California State University, San Bernardino

CSUSB ScholarWorks

Theses Digitization Project

John M. Pfau Library

2003

Teacher training and the implementation of reading instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation

Nancy Sharlett Thompson

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd-project



Part of the Special Education and Teaching Commons

Recommended Citation

Thompson, Nancy Sharlett, "Teacher training and the implementation of reading instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation" (2003). Theses Digitization Project. 2308. https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd-project/2308

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the John M. Pfau Library at CSUSB ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses Digitization Project by an authorized administrator of CSUSB ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@csusb.edu.

TEACHER TRAINING AND THE IMPLEMENTATION OF READING INSTRUCTION FOR STUDENTS WITH MILD TO MODERATE MENTAL RETARDATION

A Thesis

Presented to the

Faculty of

California State University,

San Bernardino

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts

in

Education:

Special Education

by

Nancy Sharlett Thompson
September 2003

TEACHER TRAINING AND THE IMPLEMENTATION OF READING INSTRUCTION FOR STUDENTS WITH MILD TO MODERATE MENTAL RETARDATION

A Project

Presented to the

Faculty of

California State University,

San Bernardino

by

Nancy Sharlett Thompson

September 2003

Approved by:

Dr. Jeff McNair, FArst Reader

Dr. Carolyn Eggleston, Second Reader

ABSTRACT

This study was designed to investigate whether special education teachers are adequately trained and equipped to meet the literacy needs of students with mild to moderate mental retardation, particularly those in severe programs. A survey of special education teachers was conducted to discover their beliefs, practices, and opinions regarding the usefulness and effectiveness of training in reading instruction as well as their needs and desires for further training.

Results of the survey revealed that the greater the amount of training and experience special education teachers have, the higher their levels of confidence and effectiveness in implementing reading instruction for students with severe disabilities. The study also found that, although some respondents indicated that they benefited a great deal from the training they had received, the majority found it only somewhat helpful or not at all.

A concern was that at least 65% of teachers felt their students' progress in reading was only one-half year or less within a year time period. These findings suggest a need for further evaluation of teacher training, practices, and the resulting level of expertise as well as

student needs in the area of reading. The results of this study indicated that 80% of the special education teachers wanted further training in reading instruction.

A consensus already exists that many students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities) are capable of learning to read in a true literary sense. The challenge is to adequately prepare teachers to handle the literacy needs of this population. Collaboration and commitment between those who specialize in reading and special education is crucial in order to develop the teaching expertise needed to help these students achieve their highest potential in the area of literacy and become viable members of the literary community.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Jeff McNair for his help and assistance with this project. Without his encouragement at crucial moments, I may never have crossed this finish line. The whole process ended up being the most valuable learning experience of my time at Cal State.

Words seem inadequate to express my heartfelt gratitude to God, my wonderful family, friends, coworkers, and my principal, Rebecca Silva. Their unconditional love, support, and patience have made all the difference! It has been a long journey, completed successfully through their faithful encouragement and willingness to cheer me on!

A very special thank you to my beloved sister, Peggy, whose home, heart, friendship, and understanding provided such a support and haven for me this past year. I never would have made it without you!

Deep love and gratitude for my precious niece, Amee and her two beautiful children, Neo and little angel Trinity, whose birth came in God's perfect timing and helped bring me back to family, reminding me of what is truly important.

DEDICATION

To honor my mother with this finished product is only a small gesture signifying the amount of gratitude I owe for her constant and unfailing love and support through all my endeavors through thick and thin.

"Thanks, Momsie! It's done!" ©

Dedicated also to my wonderful students who have "taught me" how to teach reading. You are the inspiration behind this project! Your desire and perseverance in learning how to read despite life-long obstacles, keeps the fire lit within, motivating me and helping me realize more and more each day the true joy and excitement of learning. Keep reading! I believe in you!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AB	TRACTii	i
AC	NOWLEDGMENTS	v
LΙ	T OF TABLES i	x
CH	PTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
	Background	1
	Statement of the Problem	3
	Purpose of the Study	6
	Theoretical Bases and Organization	9
	Limitations of the Study 1	1
	Definition of Terms 1	4
	Abbreviations 1	4
	Variables 1	4
	Special Terms 1	5
CH	PTER TWO: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
	Introduction 1	8
	Capability and Opportunity to Learn 1	9
	Low Expectations 2	4
	Developmental Readiness 2	6
	Approaches 3	0
	The Four Blocks 32	2
	Which Approach? 34	4
	Phonics versus Whole Word or Whole Language	5
	Balanced Approach 42	2

•	Effective Strategies	43
Tea	acher Training	46
Cor	nclusions	51
CHAPTER	THREE: METHODOLOGY	
Des	sign of the Investigation	56
Por	pulation and/or Participants	58
Tre	eatment	59
Dat	ca Analysis Procedures	60
CHAPTER	FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Pre	esentation of the Findings	61
	Experience	63
	Training	66
	Teacher Confidence	68
	Implementation	69
	Teacher Effectiveness	71
	Further Training	72
Dis	scussion of the Findings	76
	Wide Ranges	77
	Credentialing	77
	Experience	78
	Teacher Confidence	78
	Teacher Effectiveness	84
	Further Training	07

CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary	90
Conclusions	92
Limitations of Study Design and Procedures	94
Future Research and Recommendations	96
APPENDIX A: THE FOUR BLOCKS FRAMEWORK	99
APPENDIX B: TEACHER SURVEY	101
REFERENCES	105

LIST OF TABLES

Table	1.	Teachers According to Gender, Ethnicity, and Age	61
Table	2.	Teachers with Credentials Completed or in Progress	62
Table	3.	Experience with Students with Severe Disabilities	63
Table	4.	Years of Teaching Experience	64
Table	5.	Teachers' Current Class Type	65
Table	6.	Training Received in Reading Instruction	66
Table	7.	Degree of Assistance From College Training	66
Table	8.	Trainings Indicated as Most Helpful	67
Table	9.	Teacher Confidence in Teaching Reading	67
Table	10.	Teacher Opinion on How Their Students Best Learn to Read	68
Table	11.	Teachers Teaching Reading	69
Table	12.	Methods Used to Teach Reading	69
Table	13.	Programs/Materials Used to Teach Reading	70
Table	14.	Frequency Per Week for Reading Instruction	70
Table	15.	Student Reading Progress (Teacher Effectiveness)	71
Table	16.	Types of Further Training Desired	71
Table	17.	Further Training Relative to Teacher Confidence	72
Table	18.	Further Training According to Teacher Effectiveness (Student Progress)	73

Table 19.	Teacher Profile Relative to Teacher Confidence	74
Table 20.	Correlation Between Teacher Confidence and Teacher Effectiveness, Including Frequency of Reading Instruction	75
Table 21.	Credentialing Relative to Teacher Confidence	80

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

Background

Teaching reading, both in method and timing, has long been a subject for heated debate. This debate can become even more heated and controversial when considering the literacy needs of students with mild to moderate mental retardation and/or Down syndrome.

Efforts toward any type of formal reading instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation have only recently been incorporated within the last 30 to 40 years (Katims, 2000a). Previously these students were simply kept at home or institutionalized.

In the early 1970's, although disabled students were still segregated, they began to attend special schools which provided formal schooling opportunities (Gold, 2000a). However, the general perception at that time was that these students could not learn to read; therefore, daily living, functional, and vocational skills were emphasized instead (Conners, 1992).

With the implementation of Public Law 94-142 in 1975 (Turnbull & Turnbull, 2001), a free and appropriate education became a protected right for all children.

Programs for students with special needs were established on regular school campuses, allowing students to attend their own neighborhood schools.

Unfortunately, according to Katims (2000b), these programs continued to focus more on other skills rather than literacy, except as needed for functional use. Furthermore, an evaluation of textbooks used to train future teachers revealed that many [did] "not address or emphasize the importance of teaching reading and writing to this population" (p. 2).

The current and ongoing literacy crisis in the United States has prompted state and the federal entities to offer financial incentives and penalties for school reading performance and student achievement. There is a strong emphasis on teacher training, and on using reading programs which have proven successful and are based on scientific research, such as direct instruction in phonemic awareness and phonics (Bowler, 2002b; Holland, 2000).

Recent studies demonstrate that students with mild to moderate mental retardation are capable of learning to read in a literary sense (Hedrick, 1999; Ryan, 1999; Gold, 2000). Bochner, Outhred, and Pieterse (2001) declared that there is no longer a debate as to whether these students

are capable of learning to read. However, there is little evidence of existing research revealing the extent to which these students are offered appropriate literacy opportunities within the classroom by their special education teachers (Katims, 2000b; Hedrick, 1999).

The majority of students are initially referred to special education due to reading difficulties

(Lewandowski, 1977). Yet, once these students are placed in special education programs, they are most often taught by teachers with limited skill and training in the area of reading instruction (Lewandowski, 1977; Katims, 2000b).

Several researchers reiterate the need for special educators to have more training in the area of reading instruction. Cheeseman (1997) declared that less than 10% of teachers are sufficiently prepared to deal with specific reading disabilities, and even less attention is given to equipping teachers to work with students who are mentally retarded (Morris, Ervin, & Conrad, 1996; Moriarty, 1997).

Statement of the Problem

This study will investigate the following question:

Are special education teachers adequately trained and
equipped to meet the literacy needs of students with mild

to moderate mental retardation, particularly those served in programs classified as severely handicapped? To help guide the ensuing research, two null hypotheses are stated below, each accompanied by an alternate hypothesis.

Null Hypothesis 1. No relationship exists between teacher training in reading instruction and the level of teacher confidence in the implementation of literacy instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities).

Alternate Hypothesis 1. There is a relationship between teacher training in reading instruction and the level of teacher confidence in the implementation of literacy instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities).

Null Hypothesis 2. No relationship exists between teacher training in reading instruction and the level of teacher effectiveness (as shown by student progress) in the implementation of literacy instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities).

Alternate Hypothesis 2. There is a relationship between teacher training in reading instruction and the level of teacher effectiveness and student progress in the

implementation of literacy instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities).

Besides the level of teacher training, a major confounding variable is the amount of teaching experience teachers have accumulated and the influence this has on their level of confidence and effectiveness in the area of reading instruction.

Therefore, several other questions to be explored in this study include:

- 1. Are there any similar characteristics of teachers according to teacher confidence, i.e. Novice, Competent, and Very Competent?
 - 2. Does the amount of teaching experience affect teacher confidence in teaching special education students how to read?
- 3. Is there a relationship between teacher confidence and teacher effectiveness (as demonstrated by student progress in reading).
- 4. Does the frequency (F) of instruction have any influence on student progress in reading?
- 5. Is there any relationship between teacher confidence and the desire for further training?

6. Is there any relationship between teacher effectiveness (student progress) and the desire for further training?

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to determine whether teacher training in the area of reading instruction influences the level of teacher confidence and effectiveness for teachers serving students with mild to moderate mental retardation, especially those served in programs designed for students with severe disabilities. This discourse is vital to the education system because much of the learning that students do over their lifetimes will be in the form of retrieving information from a printed medium, in short, reading. Furthermore, this issue is vital to the growth and structure of our society as a whole, which, as stated in our nation's constitution, is built on the foundation that all are created equal and have the right to the pursuit of happiness. Freedom is preserved by a people who are literate and informed, thereby enabling them to put forth effort to maintain their rights and freedom of choice.

The inability to read results in low self-esteem (Black, 1974), intense embarrassment, and the failure of

students to improve their knowledge and skills, especially at the high school level (Moriarty, 1997). The premise of our educational system is that all students can learn and have the right to equal access of educational opportunities, which allow for the development of one's greatest potential (Anderson, Hiebert, Scott & Wilkinson, 1985; National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983). One of the key avenues for enabling students with mental retardation and severe disabilities to achieve satisfaction in life and reach their highest potential is to help them become an integral part of the literary community as well as contributing members of society (Ryan, 1999; CAST, 1999-2000; NAEP, 1998). Without adequate and effective training of special education teachers in the area of reading instruction, they will not be effective in helping these students achieve these goals.

All students, including those with severe disabilities, deserve the best opportunities and services available. Following an extensive review of research studies (over 33 years; 41 research sites worldwide; 34,000 people), The National Reading Panel (2000) concluded that learning to read is NOT a natural process. Direct instruction is often necessary, especially for

students with learning issues. This suggests that teachers need specialized training to effectively meet the needs of this population.

Many studies have already demonstrated that students with mild to moderate mental retardation have the capability of learning to read (Hedrick, 1999; Ryan, 1999; Gold, 2000b). Other studies suggest our educational system as it is may not be providing sufficient opportunities for them which match that capability (Katims, 2000b; Hedrick, 1999).

Some researchers have indicated that teachers want more training in the area of reading instruction (Vaughn, Moody, & Schumm, 1998). Several others declare that training for teachers of students with specific learning disabilities is addressed more often than for those teaching students with mental retardation (Morris et al., 1996; Moriarty, 1997; Lewandowski, 1977). The current study will delve deeper into this area of teacher training and hopefully shed more light on how special education teachers feel regarding the amount, quality, and helpfulness of reading instruction they have already received as well as desires and interest for further training.

Theoretical Bases and Organization

Accurate knowledge and levels of expectation for students with mental retardation in regard to attaining literacy skills play a major role in whether or not they are exposed to meaningful literacy experiences (CAST, 1999-2000; Gold, 2000b; Zahn, 2001; Kliewer, 1998; Buckley, 1995; Bochner et al., 2001). Those who do not believe students with mental retardation have the ability to learn to read in a true literary sense may not be willing to put forth the time and effort needed to accomplish this task. Given this position, intense teacher training in the area of reading instruction would not be necessary. Exposing students to functional reading and learning survival signs would suffice.

On the other hand, some experts such as those involved in the Reading Recovery Program (Knuth, 1992; Pinnell, 1989) or the teaching methods developed by Collins (Zahn, 1999), train teachers to work with children, regardless of ability level, allowing all students the opportunity to learn how to read. The intense and lengthy teacher-training required by these programs, which includes a strong emphasis on phonics, develops teachers with the same philosophy, perseverance, and skills, who in turn produce many more educated and

literate citizens. Many students, who may otherwise fail at learning to read, succeed. Those who have a great deal of difficulty in reading are at least provided the opportunity to learn and progress much closer their capacity.

Reading readiness, as a factor in learning to read, can be especially important in regard to reading instruction and literacy attainment for this population. Students who have not yet learned to read by the time they reach the secondary level are at a particular disadvantage. The reasons they never learned to read previously may be related to developmental readiness, but there are a host of other influential factors. These may include absenteeism, frequent relocation, or missing reading instruction at the "right" time, while the rest of the class moves on. Some teachers choose not to focus on literacy or lack the materials and/or skills to do so. Whatever the reasons, for older students who may be at their potential point of readiness, literacy is often deleted from their program and replaced by vocational and daily living skills (Farrell & Elkins, 1994/1995).

It seems students with mental retardation tend to lose on both ends. In the beginning, depending on educators' philosophies, they are too young and not ready

developmentally to learn to read; later they are too old and, from many educators' viewpoint, would benefit much more from focusing on other skills. If these beliefs and philosophies prevail, the need for training special education teachers in the area of reading instruction may not seem as critical.

Limitations of the Study

Due to lack of time and availability of an adequate number of teachers teaching students with mild to moderate mental retardation (with IQ's ranging from 36-68), the 42 special education teachers surveyed work with students possessing a much wider range of abilities than was the particular focus of this study. Student disabilities ran the gamut from the severe and profound, who may often never learn to read even simple words, to students with emotional disturbances, who typically have normal intelligence and often read at grade level. Therefore, answers given on the surveys to questions regarding student abilities as well as methods and materials used for reading instruction vary accordingly. The main objective of this study, however, was to obtain information on the level and effectiveness of training in

literacy instruction which special education teachers have received.

In addition, developing the survey for this study was a learning experience for the author. The importance of clear wording, simplicity, and placement of items on the survey became more obvious in hindsight. Any lack of clarity in interpreting the information requested could result in confusion, varied responses, and the worst-case scenario--blank answers. In the end, these discrepancies could skew the resulting statistical analysis. The following are notations of the manner in which particular discrepancies or variations were handled with regard to the survey:

- Blanks: no tally
- Question 2: number of years credential held (#'s mixed w/X); counted as possessing credential only; number of years held not considered
- Question 4: current class type not specified category added
- Added "Other" category for class types not listed on survey
- Mixed grades within same class type: went with lower grade due to probable lower reading levels

A major limitation of this study was the lack of opportunity to observe teachers involved in actual reading instruction. In order to determine true teacher effectiveness, it would be necessary to obtain students' baseline reading levels prior to a predetermined period of instruction as well as the measurement of their reading levels following this instruction. More often, studies of this kind have been done in the general education setting, but a very limited number have been conducted in settings involving students with mild to moderate mental retardation, particularly those at the secondary level (Insider, 2000; Hedrick, 1999).

Lastly, a common limitation inherent in survey research is that the data collected is self-reported. Responses received from the survey were teachers' opinions and thoughts regarding their training experiences and their effectiveness in facilitating student progress in reading. It is important to have the perspective of teachers because they are the ones who work so closely with the students and are most familiar with their own needs as well as those of the students. Teacher effectiveness ratings by supervisors, in addition to teachers rating themselves, could be beneficial in

providing more objective input regarding student progress in reading.

Definition of Terms

Abbreviations

TY - Total Years

SPED - Special Education

GEN - General Education

SD - Standard Deviation

ED - Emotionally Disturbed

TMH - Trainably Mentally Handicapped

MH - Multiple Handicapped

AUT - Autistic

DD - Developmentally Delayed; Severe and Profound

LH - Learning Handicapped

Variables

Teacher Confidence. This term refers to how teachers rated themselves in teaching reading to general and special education students. In this study, how teachers rated themselves in regard to teaching reading to special education students will be used for analyses and discussion. The three levels of confidence are Novice (N), Competent (C), and Very Competent (VC).

To further clarify, the term Novice does not mean a brand new teacher with little or no experience. It refers to the level of confidence that teacher has in teaching reading to special education students in the classroom.

Frequency. Frequency (F) refers to the rate or number of times the teacher provides reading instruction per week.

Teacher Effectiveness. Teacher effectiveness will be equated with the amount of reading progress teachers felt their students tended to make in a year. Teacher effectiveness and student progress may be used interchangeably.

Special Terms

Mental Retardation. According to The Merck Manual (n.d.), mental retardation is sub-average intellectual ability, which is present from birth or early infancy. It can be identified and measured by standardized intelligence tests. Students with an IQ of 69 to 84 generally have difficulty learning in school but are not mentally retarded.

Mild Mental Retardation. IQs for mild mental retardation range from 52-68. These students typically have difficulty learning to read, but they may achieve a fourth to sixth-grade reading level.

Moderate Mental Retardation. IQs for moderate retardation range from 36-51. Progression beyond a 2nd-grade level in academics for these students is unlikely. They are usually able to learn some social and occupational skills (Kenny & Clemmens, 1997).

Learning Disorders/Disabilities. It is important to distinguish mental retardation, involving general overall deficits in intellectual functioning, from learning disorders and disabilities in which the deficit is limited to a specific area, such as math, reading, or written expression. These students may have high IQs overall, however, performance in one of the above areas is significantly below what would be expected considering age, intelligence, and schooling background factors (Healthinmind.com, 2001).

Reading and Literacy Skills. For the purposes of this review, reading and/or literacy skills will be defined as the ability to gain meaning from text for the purpose of gaining information or pleasure from what is read (Pikulski, 1994), thereby perceiving oneself as a viable member of a literate society.

Reading for Meaning. When reading lessons and vocabulary are combined with current, meaningful experiences and activities of the readers, connections are

easily made, interest and motivation levels are high, and the percentage of retained information and learning is much greater (Sticht & McDonald, 1992).

Functional Approach. A functional approach to reading entails learning survival signs and sight word vocabulary in real-life settings. The strategy is for students to see the words enough times to eventually memorize them and know their meanings. This typically involves a great deal of drill and practice using individual words (Hedrick, 1999; Conners, 1992; Insider 2000; Gurry & Larkin, 1999).

Phonetic Approach. A phonetic approach begins with learning the letter/sound symbols, blending sounds together, and learning the phonetic rules in order to decode words, even new ones not previously seen (Love, 1982; Lyon, 1998).

CHAPTER TWO

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction

The purpose of this literature review is to gain an understanding of the reading capabilities of students with mild to moderate mental retardation, as well as the beliefs, practices, and training of educators in the area of literacy instruction for this population.

Efforts toward any type of reading instruction for this population have only recently been incorporated. Many people, including some educators, do not believe students with mild to moderate mental retardation are capable of learning to read phonetically as an avenue of achieving literacy (Bender, Valletutti, & Bender, 1976). It is important to address this controversial issue before decisions regarding methods of teaching reading can be made as well as the degree and quality of training needed for teachers to effectively accomplish this task.

In addition, the broader history and controversy surrounding the debate about the most effective approach to reading instruction will be addressed only to the extent it relates to the instruction of students with

mental retardation and their potential of becoming viable members of a literate society.

The following questions and issues will be investigated and discussed within this literature review:

- 1. Are students with mild to moderate mental retardation (including students with Down syndrome) truly capable of learning to read and gain literacy skills?
- 2. Are these students, regardless of disability, provided the opportunity to gain literacy skills to the fullest extent of which they are capable?
- 3. If so, what approaches and/or strategies are most effective in helping students with developmental disabilities gain literacy skills?
- 4. Do teachers in the position of educating this population have the skills and training necessary to accomplish this task?

Capability and Opportunity to Learn

Many people, including some educators, do not believe students with mild to moderate mental retardation are capable of learning to read phonetically as an avenue of achieving literacy (Bender et al., 1976; Sitlington, Clark & Kolstoe, 2000; Bochner et al., 2001). On the other hand,

based on studies and research, a number of authors have reached the opposite conclusion (Cegelka & Cegelka, 1970; Conners, 1992; Hedrick, 1999; Reale, 1999; Katims, 2000b; Gold, 2000b; Bochner et al., 2001). It is important to address this controversy before decisions regarding methods of teaching reading can be made. Efforts toward any type of formal reading instruction for this population have only recently been incorporated within the last 30 to 40 years (Conners, 1992; Gold, 2000b; Katims, 2000a; Bochner et al., 2001; Turnbull & Turnbull, 2001).

The precursor for this change was the implementation in 1975 of Public Law 94-142 (Turnbull & Turnbull, 2001), a major legislative decision guaranteeing a free and appropriate education for all children, including those with mental retardation.

According to Katims (2000a), Professor of Educational Psychology and Special Education at the University of Texas in San Antonio:

The story of the treatment of people with mental retardation dates back to the beginning of recorded history. However, documented attempts at systematic literacy instruction, including efforts to teach reading, writing, and spelling to individuals with

mental retardation, is a relatively recent phenomenon. (p. 2)

Reading instruction for students with mental retardation is also addressed by Conners (1992),

Research on reading by children with moderate mental retardation was virtually nonexistent prior to the late 1960's because of emphasis on other types of skills and the general belief that these children could not learn to read. Early research suggested that this belief was misguided. (p. 577)

Katims (2000b) further noted that the majority of literature reviews on this topic indicate that "people with mental retardation read well below their own mental age" (p. 11). Cheeseman (1997), director of the Read to Succeed Adult Reading Clinic, declares that one out of three adults do not read normal adult materials. She states that those with reading disabilities "can learn if given appropriate research-based instruction" (p. 35).

Use of research-based instruction in reading appears to be more the exception than the rule, as indicated by Katims (2000b). In his book, The Quest for Literacy, Katims delineates the outcomes resulting from the belief held by many that these students are not capable of learning to read. "Unfortunately, current classroom

instructional programs tend to focus primarily on teaching social, vocational, and daily living skills to the exclusion of literacy instruction beyond a basic functional level" (p. 2). Katims (2000b) goes on to say that textbooks on special education and mental retardation "perpetuate 'literacy pessimism' among professionals because they do not address or emphasize the importance of teaching reading and writing to this population" (p. 2).

While it seems many students in this population have missed out on the experience of learning to read (McCray, Vaughn & Neal, 2001; Katims, 2000b), there is encouraging evidence that those who have been afforded the opportunity are able to learn and make progress in reading (Fuller, 1974; Katims, 1996 & 2000b; Kliewer, 1998; Hedrick, 1999; Reale, 1999; Gold, 2000b, July 7; Marva Collins Seminars, 1998-2001; National Reading Panel, 2000).

According to Katims (2000b), "Teachers who use a progressive instructional orientation have demonstrated that students with mental retardation have the potential and ability to become increasingly literate" (p. 4).

A year-long study demonstrated that better than average gains were made by students with mental retardation being instructed using the Four Blocks literacy framework (Hedrick, 1999) which incorporates

phonics and sight-word learning, the use of good literature, as well as writing (see Appendix B for a detailed description of this method).

Reale, an employee of the Massachusetts Department of Mental Retardation, demonstrates evidence of adults with mental retardation who have successfully increased their reading skills. As a result clients were able to get jobs or job promotions. She discusses the importance of literacy and the impact this skill has on the quality of their lives (Ryan, 1999).

Just over 30 years ago, all students with Down syndrome were considered profoundly retarded and, therefore, uneducable and often institutionalized. In 1971 they continued to be segregated from their non-disabled peers, but were allowed to attend special schools. By the late 1970s, it was thought that 20-50 percent of these students might be only mildly retarded. Research studies done by Buckley indicated that many students with Down syndrome began reading at a very early age (Gold, 2000b).

A comparison of Buckley's 1986 and 1999 studies (Gold, 2000b), done on the reading achievements of forty-six 11 to 20 year-olds with Down syndrome in Hampshire, Australia, clearly demonstrates the reading capabilities of these students. In addition, there were

clear benefits to integrating them into mainstream schools as opposed to isolating them within special schools.

The study shows mainstream children have an average reading age of nine years, and they continue to improve academically. In contrast, those in special schools have an average reading age of five years nine months. They do not continue to improve. (Gold, 2000a, ¶ 5)

Low Expectations

As evidenced by the previous example, accurate knowledge and levels of expectation for students with mental retardation in regard to attaining literacy skills play a major role in whether or not they are exposed to meaningful literacy experiences (CAST, 1999-2000; Gold, 2000b; Zahn, 1999; Kliewer, 1998; Buckley, 1995; Bochner et al., 2001). In addition, the impact of low expectations is closely tied to how students perceive themselves. If they see themselves as poor readers, they tend to act accordingly (Cunningham, Hall, & Sigmon, 1999).

Ability-grouping is common, and once students are placed in the low reading group, they often never rise above that level (Lyon, 1998).

Collins (Zahn, 1999) suggests that low expectations negatively impact student progress, and boldly claims that

she can "get any class in the world to read in one month." She ventures, "If you teach at-risk students, that makes you an at-risk teacher. I don't teach at-risk students; I teach scholars" (¶ 162). Her claims are validated by the success of students who experience her methods of instruction, which include the use of intensive, systematic phonics.

In 1991, Harvard University assessed the progress of eight schools in Oklahoma. Four schools that worked Collins' program had an average increase of over 172% on the Iowa Standardized Test, compared to only a 10% increase in the four schools that did not utilize her program (Marva Collins Seminars, 1998-2001).

In 1996, Collins asked to help the three lowest achieving schools in Chicago. After only four months, the two schools that used her model raised test scores over 85%; the other school increased only 10% (Marva Collins Seminars, 1998-2001).

The NAEP 1998 Reading Report Card findings indicated that 68 percent of fourth graders in high poverty areas were considered poor readers according to set standards. In contrast, according to an independent investigation of her work, Collins had 100 percent of her students reading well at her private school in Chicago, in spite of the

fact they came from high poverty areas (Home School Legal Defense Association, 1996-2002).

During an interview, when asked about students with learning or cognitive disabilities, Collins (Zahn, 1999) responded from her own personal experience. For three years she taught students with learning disabilities in a public school. Every year they did better than all the other students because she did not treat them as if they were learning disabled.

Collins went on to say that her own daughter, currently an administrator at one of her schools, works with special children on a pull-out basis. Even though teachers had said these students would never be able to read, she has them all reading (Zahn, 1999).

Developmental Readiness

An additional factor to consider for this population is the debated topic of developmental readiness with regard to reading (Flesch, 1986; Kirk, 1993; Cawley & Parmar, 1995). According to some researchers, "Many mildly handicapped students do not begin to read until they are 8 to 10 years of age and then only after an intensive period of training in reading readiness skills" (Bender et al., 1976, p. 23). High interest reading materials of a

functional nature should be used, along with a focus on meaning rather than simply decoding words.

Some educators claim that if students with mild to moderate mental retardation have not learned to read by the time they reach high school, they never will (Farrell & Elkins, 1994/1995; Sitlington et al, 2000; Stanovich, 1986). This statement is a declaration made by those who are strongly convinced that functional reading, as opposed to a phonetic approach, is much more beneficial and practical for these students once they reach the secondary level (Cegelka & Cegelka, 1970).

Proponents of functional reading hold that since there is so little school-time left with these students once they reach the secondary level (at age 14), it is vital to help them become as functional as possible in daily living skills and within the community (Bender et al., 1976). At this age, there is little benefit in teaching them to read using a phonetic approach and still achieve only a first, second, or third-grade reading level.

The opposing side argues that between the ages of ten to fourteen, many students with developmental delays may just be achieving a mental capacity comparable to five to seven year olds (Farrell & Elkins, 1994/1995), the age at

which most students of normal intelligence learn to read (Flesch, 1986). If this is true, it is only fair that these students be afforded the opportunity of gaining this skill at their point of readiness (Cawley & Parmar, 1995).

Farrell and Elkins (1994/1995) venture, "The important thing to remember is that the chronological milestones we are accustomed to don't usually apply, since these young people generally develop intellectually at a much slower pace than other children" (p. 271). They go on to say, "The unfortunate outcome for many of the older children is that they begin to acquire concepts about literacy at the time that their curriculum deletes literacy in favor of vocational or daily living skills" (p. 275).

It is important to keep in mind the factors of time and effort relative to a student's age (Lyon, 1998).

Cheeseman (1997) states that the "required time (for learning to read) increases significantly with age. By the time the student reaches adolescence, the time needed for success is nearly doubled" (p. 35).

In light of this, a factor worth noting is that once these students reach high school, they typically have eight more years of opportunity to learn within a school setting, since formal schooling is available to them

through age 21. Hedrick (1999) proposes that "programs for students with mild to moderate mental retardation can be designed from pre-kindergarten to transition into the adult world in a way that balances necessary social skills/daily living skills with intensive and extensive literacy instruction" (p. 148).

If an effective and solidly-structured literacy program were in place during these years, and afterward they were connected with an adult literacy program (Reale, 1999), their progress and level of achievement could be significant given this longer time frame (Bochner et al., 2001). Reale (1999) has spent over five years developing literacy classes for adults with mental retardation. She draws several conclusions from her experiences. She found several significant components necessary for success in reading. These include: use of phonics and whole language materials; learning across settings—home, work, class; and following the same reading development steps as adults in community-based adult education programs.

Although much of the research and literature studied focuses on literacy programs for younger students, it is important to keep in mind that the same elements, steps, and processes are necessary in teaching reading to students with disabilities, regardless of age (Chall,

1983b; Reale, 1999). Spadorcia (1997) concurs that "despite age, students need to go through the same stages of reading and writing development that younger students go through" (p. 93). Furthermore, those aspects of literacy instruction found to be effective within the general education population should be seriously considered for use among students with special needs (Hedrick, 1999; Reale, 1999; National Reading Panel, 2000).

Approaches

Since many researchers agree that students with disabilities benefit from the same research-based instructional approaches that work for others (National Reading Panel, 2000; CAST, 1999-2000; Spadorcia, 1997), it is important to look at certain issues regarding reading instruction in general.

Through the years, four major approaches to teaching reading have gone in and out of popularity (Cunningham & Allington, 1994). The first one is the phonics approach, which, as mentioned earlier, focuses on letter/sound relationship, and then uses these as tools to decode words.

Though the basal reader approach incorporates phonics, it typically begins with sight word learning and has a strong emphasis on comprehension. Graduated levels of difficulty and a wide range of literature are characteristic of basal readers.

Those who felt restricted or regimented within the basal approach were rejuvenated when the literature approach came into vogue. Having the freedom to choose from a wide variety of real books (also known as trade books) cultivated an excitement and love of reading. Then in the late 1980's, personal experiences expressed through writing became the popular approach, based on the thought that students' own writings were the simplest and most motivating for them to read (Cunningham et al., 1994).

Despite the varying approaches described above,

Conners (as cited in Katims, 2000a) notes that "in regular
education the focus of reading instruction is on gaining
meaning from print, while the research on reading
instruction for students with mental retardation focuses
almost exclusively on the identification of individual
words" (p .11). Insider (2000) reported, "Most studies of
reading in mental retardation target sight-word
instruction, that is, the memorization of words rather
than the development of word-attack skills" (¶ 4).

Pikulski (1994) expressed this same concern:

Traditional approaches to literacy education for this population generally focused on the teaching of isolated mastery of a linear set of sub skills which people with disabilities have great difficulty mastering. Therefore, they do not gain access to participation in the higher processes of using literacy as a tool for communication, obtaining information, or of reading for pleasure. (p. 35)

About twelve years ago, Cunningham, Hall, and Defee (1998) became increasingly concerned about the phenomenon in which different approaches to reading come in and out of fashion. They declared that students have different learning styles. They suggested that, depending on the emphasis, certain methods work for some children, but not for others, and vice versus. "When the pendulum swings to another approach, we may pick up some of those who weren't faring too well under the previous emphasis but lose some who were" (Cunningham et al., 1998, p. 652).

The Four Blocks

As a result, these educators developed a literacy instruction framework now known as "The Four Blocks" (Cunningham, Hall, & Sigmon, 1999). This framework provides a balance between more traditional reading

instruction (guided reading, use of basal readers, direct phonics instruction), and a contemporary, constructivist orientation toward literacy instruction (writing process, student choice of books from good literature) (Hedrick, 1999; Bintz, 1993). The Four Blocks is a multilevel, multi-method approach, which, amazingly enough, incorporates many aspects of the various approaches described earlier (for a more detailed description of "The Four Blocks" method please see Appendix B).

The Four Blocks framework is only one example of an integrated approach, which clearly incorporates a combination of methods for teaching reading. It provides a variety of avenues to become literate, as well as accommodating a wide range of ability levels among students. More importantly, it results in superior reading achievement for a wide range of children. Feedback received by Cunningham et al. (1999) consistently indicates that both regular and special education teachers feel that the needs of special education students can be met more effectively using the Four Blocks framework.

"When a teacher provides more routes to the goal of literacy, more children will find a route to take them there" (Cunningham & Allington, 1994, p. 17).

Which Approach?

In the 1960's, the Federal government conducted a study and spent a large amount of money trying to determine which method for teaching reading was truly the best (Cunningham & Allington, 1994). The results were inconclusive, other than discovering that combination approaches were more effective than any one particular approach. These same conclusions have been reached following research studies involving students with mental retardation (Cegelka & Cegelka, 1970; Bender et al., 1976; Reale, 1999).

Adams (1990), states explicitly in her book,

Beginning to Read, that she does not believe there is "any
universal best method for teaching reading ... The

effectiveness of a method depends on the materials, its
teachers, its students, and the compatibility of each with
the other" (p. 423).

In addition, due to differing personalities, abilities, and learning styles among students, incorporating aspects from as many methods as possible is beneficial as well as necessary (Love, 1982; Cunningham et al, 1998; Bond & Dykstra, 1967). Cunningham and Allington (1994) agree by stating,

The reason the great debate rages on is that there is truth in all the arguments. To learn to read, children must read real books. Children who write become better writers and better readers. English is an alphabetic language; in order to read and spell the thousands of words necessary for fluent reading and writing, children must figure out the letter-sound relationships. Finally, basal readers provide multiple copies of a variety of literature, which gradually increase in difficulty along with an organized curricular plan, that teachers can use to instruct and assess progress. (p. 15)

Each approach has its own strengths and weaknesses.

Many renowned people and educators plea for a balanced approach to reading instruction which includes systematic phonics as well as the use of good literature (Chall, 1983; Anderson et al, 1984; Adams, 1990; Trachtenburg, 1990; Honig, 1996; Marva Collins Seminars, 1998-2001; The Thomas B. Fordham Foundation, 1959).

Phonics versus Whole Word or Whole Language

Phonics has long been a central figure in the ongoing controversy regarding reading instruction, even for general education students. A common opponent through the years has been the whole word method (formerly called

"look-say") which today has progressed into the whole language approach (Thomas B. Fordham Foundation, 1959). Huey (1908) was one of the early advocates for teaching reading by memorizing whole words, as long as they were learned in context (Garnett, 1991). Proponents of the whole word method argue that learning is faster and more enjoyable compared to the hard work and drudgery of learning all the sounds first (Daniels & Diack, 1961). Phonics first supporters stand strong as they counter these benefits by stating the drawbacks, "If you don't teach a child the letters, he'll always be stumped when he sees a new word" and in the end he can only become a "lifelong word guesser" (Flesch, 1986, p. 51-52).

According to Flesch (1986), anytime the use of phonics and the word method were investigated and analyzed, the concluding results put phonics instruction "on top". After a thorough search for scientific evidence supporting the word method, Flesch declared that "there was none" (p. 61).

Chall's (1983a) findings are similar to Flesch's when comparing phonics-based instruction with other emphases, such as meaning. This is especially true for beginning readers. Many researchers emphasize the importance of phonics instruction in the beginning stages of reading.

Dykstra (as cited in Chall, 1983a, p. 5) expressed strong convictions regarding the use of phonics.

We can summarize the results of sixty years of research dealing with beginning reading instruction by stating that early systematic instruction in phonics provides the child with the skills necessary to become an independent reader at an earlier age than is likely if phonics instruction is delayed and less systematic. As a consequence of his early success in 'learning to read,' the child can more quickly go about the job of 'reading to learn'.

(p. 5)

Drawing from a number of similar success stories throughout the United States, Flesch (1986) lends credence to the use of phonics instruction. Previously, students (in one geographical area) were "far below grade level in reading skills...even sixth-graders were still guessing at words... Five years later (following phonics instruction), students were performing above grade level in the primary grades and at grade level in the intermediate grades" (p. xi).

Early exposure to phonics instruction in the educational experience of students is strongly supported by many researchers (Chall, 1983a; Anderson et al., 1985;

Flesch, 1986; Adams, 1990; Snider, 1992; Honig, 1996).

Adams (1990), however, describes a relatively recent shift in focus regarding phonics. Rather than phonics versus no phonics being the key argument, the debate seems to have shifted as to which kind of phonics instruction is most effective. In direct-synthetic phonics (explicit), letter sounds are isolated and taught directly, along with specific practice in blending sounds. Conversely, indirect-analytic phonics (implicit) uses sight words to make generalizations regarding letter-sounds. For example, dog, desk, and dig all begin with the same sound (Chall, 1983a; Flesch, 1986).

In her summary of recommendations, Chall (1983a) states that evidence favors a direct approach to teaching phonics for exceptional students with reading and learning disabilities. Snider (1992) notes that there is sufficient evidence to support phonics instruction for average beginning readers in first grade, but also for older remedial readers who are still in the beginning stages of reading. In addition, success of the Boston Area literacy program for adults with mental retardation (Reale, 1999), in which the most successful textbooks include a strong phonics component, lends further support to conclusions reached by Chall (1983a) and Snider (1992). Garnett (1991)

draws the same conclusion that "Research to date shows that children learn how to read more fluently when their reading lessons are structured and their skills are taught directly" (p. 5).

Cunningham (1993) and Conners (1992) concur regarding the importance of combining phonics instruction with sight-word learning. "Sight words are easier to learn for students with decoding ability. A knowledge of letter-sound relationships reduces uncertainty and helps students learn a word as a sight word" (Cunningham, 1993, p. 34).

Heymsfeld (1989) purports that explicit phonics is a major component in the teaching of reading. He points out that advocates of the whole language approach, led by Goodman (1989) and Smith, are criticized due to their firm stand against direct, systematic phonics instruction. They hold that students will learn to read naturally by developing "their own phonetic principles as they read and write" (Heymsfeld, 1989, p. 66).

The premise of this conclusion is that all students have the ability to make generalizations and draw conclusions on their own without direct instruction from a teacher (Honig, 1996). However, this is a higher level thinking skill, which typically can be very difficult for

some students, especially at-risk students and/or those with reading disabilities or mental retardation. In general, these students have had less exposure to reading and writing activities or may not be able to gain certain reading skills except through direct instruction (Adams, 1990; Snider, 1992; Kirk, 1993; Cunningham & Allington, 1994).

The National Institute of Child Health and Human
Development (NICHD) carried out an extensive review of
research studies conducted over the last 33 years at 41
research sites throughout the world involving over 34,000
children and adults (Lyon, 1998; National Reading Panel,
2000). According to Lyon, findings showed that, unlike
oral language development, learning to read is not a
natural process. Therefore, although the amount may vary
from student-to-student, most need direct, systematic
reading instruction (Honig, 1996).

Flesch (1986) also supports the use of explicit phonics. He points out that by the 1930's reading disorders were prevalent and many students were having difficulty breaking the alphabetic code using the look-say/whole word method. Therefore books were "dumbed down" resulting in readers such as "Dick and Jane" which contained easier and more limited vocabulary. According to

Flesch, it was not until 1955 that phonics became an issue of concern within education, mostly in response to his book, Why Johnny Can't Read? (Garnett, 1991, p. 15-16).

As with the look-say and whole word methods from previous years, the whole language approach came under scrutiny following its emphasis during the early 1990's. The 1994 NAEP report, according to the LA Weekly (March 7, 1996 issue), declared that after eight years of whole language implementation, California's fourth-grade reading scores were the second lowest in the nation. Blumenfeld, who wrote, "The Literacy War Goes On," suggests that the whole language movement has created a "literary catastrophe" (Home School Legal Defense Association, 1996-2002).

In light of the current literacy crisis, state (Holland, 2000) and federal (Bowler, 2002b) entities are offering financial incentives and penalties depending on reading performance and student achievement. There is a strong emphasis on teacher training and using reading programs which have proven successful and are based on scientific research, such as direct instruction in phonemic awareness and phonics. "Failed programs such as whole language are being scrapped" (Holland, 2000, ¶ 9). Finn, president of the Thomas B. Fordham Foundation and a

former education official during Reagan's administration, claimed, "There's now a scientific consensus on how to teach reading" (Bowler, 2002b, \P 15).

Balanced Approach

Honig (1996), California's superintendent of instruction during the inception of the whole language movement, conducted his own investigation of what had gone wrong, along with an analysis of which components aid effective reading instruction. His conclusions, expressed in Teaching Our Children to Read, favor a balanced approach incorporating good literature and systematic phonics (Thomas B. Fordham Foundation, 1959).

Although opposing sides are still lined with those emphasizing one method over another, there seems to be a growing consensus supporting a combined approach to teaching reading which incorporates the strengths of both whole language and direct phonics instruction (Winograd & Greenlee, 1986; Slaughter, 1988; Heymsfeld, 1989; Trachtenburg, 1990; Garnett, 1991; Spiegel, 1992; Vaughn, Moody & Schumm, 1998).

Winograd and Greenlee (1986) suggested that important components for an effective reading program include direct instruction on certain aspects of the reading process as well as independent reading time for pleasure and gaining

information. Adams (1990) stated, "The vast majority of studies indicated that approaches in which a systematic code of instruction is included with meaningful connected reading resulted in superior reading achievement overall" (p. 12).

Effective Strategies

In reviewing the literature, many authors, regardless of the preferred instructional approach, seemed to emphasize several effective strategies for obtaining as well as enhancing literacy skills. The strategies of reading aloud (by the teacher) and having students reread the same books or materials address student deficits in the areas of language background and vocabulary as well as the issue of fluency or automaticity. Considering their needs, it is easy to see why inclusion of these strategies would be even more important for students with mental retardation.

Reading Aloud (by the Teacher). Few literacy activities are more important in facilitating reading development than having the teacher read aloud to students (Anderson et al., 1985; Honig, 1996; Lyon, 1998; Katims, 2000b). In addition to increasing background knowledge on many subjects as well as vocabulary, reading aloud gives students the opportunity to hear language read with a

natural flow, proper intonation, and grammar. As they gain a clearer understanding of story structure and how characters work to resolve problems and conflicts, it helps stimulate ideas for their own writing activities. Reading aloud enables students to experience a wide variety of literature, which otherwise may not be accessible to them, and, in turn, sparks interest, motivation, and initiative for further independent reading (Cunningham et al., 1999). Enjoyment is perhaps one of the greatest benefits; for many, this can be the high point of the school day.

Poetry is another form of literature which can bring a great deal of pleasure when read aloud. Hearing it gives students "a sense of the rhythm and flow of language as well as stimulating a love for the mere sounds of words" (Cafiero, 1997, p. 32).

Fluency/Automaticity. Becoming "automatic", or getting past the elements of merely decoding text is crucial to increased comprehension and enjoyment of the literature experience. Rereading the same books or materials is a valuable tool, which helps students increase their speed, smoothness, and fluency in reading (Lyon, 1998; Downhower, 1989 & 1994; Samuels, 1988). "Students with reading problems need to have many

opportunities to practice reading material that is on their level and not too difficult in terms of word recognition" (Vaughn et al., 1998, p. 222). Appropriate reading level material for each student should be comprised of 90-95% easily recognizable and familiar words (Anderson et al., 1985; Worthy & Broaddus, 2002).

In addition to other literature, poetry reading, as mentioned earlier, can be a fun medium to facilitate increased fluency. "The rhythmic sounds and patterns make poems perfect for chanting" (Wicklund, 1989, p. 479). In addition to improving literacy skills, experiencing the works of such famous poets as Shakespeare, Frost, Dickinson, and Sandburg can help create a common ground between peers, which is especially important for adolescents with developmental disabilities. Involvement in these classic poetry activities, helps these students feel pride and satisfaction in being able to access some degree of age-appropriate literature (Cafiero, 1997).

For students with mental retardation, a great deal of one-on-one and/or small group instruction and guidance from the teacher is necessary for good progress in the beginning stages of reading. Once progress is evident and secured, paired reading and peer tutoring can be effective ways to provide further rereading practice while allowing

for social interaction and connection with peers (Topping, 1989; Farrell & Elkins, 1994/1995; Mastropieri, 2001; McCray et al., 2001). These peer activities benefit both students by providing extra read-aloud time as well as the chance to develop listening skills by following along. Other positive outcomes include improved self-esteem and peer relationships, increased time on task, and more positive attitudes toward reading itself (Topping, 1989).

Teacher Training

As mentioned earlier, many more students with mental retardation are capable of achieving a higher rate of literacy if only given the chance to learn. The de-emphasis of literacy instruction for these students is further evidenced by the lack of trained teachers (Flesch, 1986; Cheeseman, 1997; Katims, 2000a).

Flesch (1986) cites the realizations of one veteran teacher following her training and use of a phonics-first reading program. "I have taught reading for twenty years, but my first-graders have never been as far advanced as they are this year. I just thought I was teaching reading before!" (p. xi).

Training experiences, in the area of reading instruction for teachers of students with special needs,

may be even more lacking (Lyon, 1998; Lewandowski, 1977; Kirk, 1993; Morris, Ervin & Conrad, 1996). In 1993 adults with mental retardation living in the Boston area were interested in receiving educational services in reading and writing so they could get better jobs. However, within the Massachusetts Department of Mental Retardation, educational services had been dropped when vocational services were implemented. In addition, these adults were unable to access literacy-learning services within community programs due to cost, long waiting lists, and lack of staff who had training and knowledge of how to teach reading to people with learning disabilities (Reale, 1999; Learning for Life, n.d.).

Cheeseman (1997) declares that "less than 10% of teachers are prepared adequately to teach students with specific reading disabilities. Of those trained, few work with adolescents or adults" (p. 35). Adequate teacher training seems to be an area of need.

As quoted earlier, "Many survey textbooks in special education and mental retardation perpetuate 'literacy pessimism' among professionals because they do not address nor emphasize the importance of teaching reading and writing to this population" (Katims, 2000b, p. 2).

Katims (2000a) further declares that textbooks used for teacher training which were analyzed for literacy content addressing mental retardation

"...have a serious lack of literacy optimism...and tend to be oriented toward a deficiency-based, decontextualized, functional approach. Poorly detailed descriptions of academic characteristics, assessment procedures, and instructional procedures in the area of literacy for people with mental retardation in the majority of textbooks are disturbing" (p. 12).

Adequate training of special education teachers in the area of reading instruction seems to be a critical need in helping this population attain literacy skills. More often the literature seems to address the issue of training for teachers of students with specific learning disabilities rather than those with mental retardation (Morris et al., 1996; Moriarty, 1997; Lewandowski, 1977).

According to Vaughn et al (1998), "Teachers are 'starving' for professional development experiences that provide them with research-based reading practices that yield effective outcomes for students with severe reading difficulties" (p. 223). Many teachers feel tossed about by all the changes and reforms they are expected to keep up

with and implement within their classrooms. One teacher expressed, "I feel that I am at the bottom of a cement mixer where they whirl around ideas and down load them on my desk" (p. 223).

Most students are initially referred to special education due to reading difficulties, yet end up being taught by non-reading specialists (Lewandowski, 1977). In 1976, thirty-two states had no reading requirement for teachers obtaining learning disabilities certification. Of the remaining states, many required only one course in reading instruction (ibid).

Even today, requirements appear relatively unchanged. Findings from a recent report addressing the teaching of beginning readers in Wisconsin suggested that direct instruction (previously discussed) has potential for improving early reading. Yet, in a survey of new Wisconsin teachers, most had learned little about direct instruction in their training programs (Schug, Tarver, & Western, 2001).

In addition, courses offered in reading instruction often do not contain a fieldwork component or teaching practicum (Morris et al., 1996).

One learns to teach reading by teaching—and reflecting on the teaching act—under the supervision

of an experienced guide... Expertise is needed to help disabled readers. Until reading and special education faculty members in colleges of education commit themselves to developing teaching expertise in their graduate students, I do not foresee significant improvements in the quality of school-based remedial reading instruction (Morris et al., 1996, p. 376).

In contrast to teacher training for those in special education, Reading Recovery is an excellent example of clinical teacher training in the area of literacy instruction. Reading Recovery teachers begin with a week-long training session during the summer, followed by a year-long program involving weekly classes lasting two and a half hours. During this year, teachers actively work with students applying the learned reading techniques and strategies. They are provided observation, discussion, and feedback sessions as well (Knuth, 1992; Pinnell, 1989).

The effect of highly trained teachers in this area is that more students are learning to read with ongoing success, fewer are being retained in first grade, and fewer are being referred to special education or classified as learning disabled. According to research, Reading Recovery is one of the most effective early-intervention reading programs boasting a greater

than 90% success rate as opposed to special education's limited success (Morris et al, 1996; Moriarty, 1997; Pinnell, 1989; Hill & Hale, 1991).

Moriarty (1997) poses the possibility that the shortcomings may be found in the method of reading instruction or delivery rather than in special education itself. Morris et al (1996) concur by stating that slow and disabled learners can learn if they are exposed to appropriate instruction given by adequately trained teachers. They make a strong declaration regarding this issue. "Until reading and special education faculty members in colleges of education commit themselves to developing teaching expertise in their graduate students, I do not foresee significant improvements in the quality of school-based remedial reading instruction" (p. 376).

Conclusions

While it seems many students in this population have missed out on the experience of learning to read, there is encouraging evidence that those who have been afforded the opportunity are able to learn and make progress. Although much research has been done regarding this topic, a consensus has not been evidenced until quite recently. After reviewing the research and literature sources on

this topic, the author agrees with the conclusion of many researchers and educators that students with mild to moderate mental retardation can be taught to read. As referenced earlier, there is no longer a debate as to whether such students have the capacity to learn to read.

The debate has shifted as to the most effective way to teach these students. Though degrees of controversy still exist, as already demonstrated, there is strong consensus among researchers that the best method for teaching these students is a combined approach (including systematic phonics instruction) which addresses the varying levels, learning styles, and personalities of students.

The "Four Blocks Method", which incorporates phonics and sight-word learning, the use of good literature, as well as writing, seems to be a powerful option for providing a balanced program of literacy instruction for all students, including those with mental retardation.

After reviewing the literature and examining the positions of the experts, it is evident that a major paradigm shift is taking place. There is a changing trend in the approach to reading instruction for students with mental retardation—from exclusively functional and/or

traditional approaches to more integrated and progressive methods.

This paradigm shift is a welcome event for the author and aligns well with her own conduct and philosophy regarding reading instruction. The consensus of the experts studied seems to indicate that students with mild to moderate mental retardation do have the capability to participate meaningfully and make significant progress in the area of literacy. Furthermore, it is apparent that no single approach is going to succeed in increasing literacy for at-risk students.

It appears that many students within this population may not be currently receiving instruction within balanced, integrated literacy programs. Researchers are calling for further research to determine the effectiveness of literacy instruction focusing on meaning and language use within the larger context of sentences and paragraphs as opposed to simply identifying individual words.

Additionally, further research is needed on the existence and quality of teacher training in the area of literacy instruction for those educating students with mental retardation as well as other disabilities.

Determining the number of courses required as well as the

resulting level of satisfaction and teacher competency are important in the ongoing evaluation and maintenance of an effective literacy program. Extensive training comparable to that which Reading Recovery teachers receive may not be feasible or even warranted. However, it seems that more in-depth training in reading instruction for special education teachers is necessary.

In light of Reading Recovery's success in reducing the number of students initially referred to special education, research studies following the implementation of this program could suggest ways of using it as an effective avenue for increasing literacy skills of special education students. The success rates for older non-readers with mental retardation would be an interesting study.

In the final analysis, care should be taken not to stereotype students or hold tenaciously to preconceived ideas regarding reading ability or potential. Conclusions as to ability should not be formed without at least giving students at any age the chance to learn and perform using a variety of methods and materials. Decisions on reading approach should be based on the needs, abilities, and desires of the students. A combination of methods is most effective.

54

The research shows that students will benefit from a well-balanced, integrated approach if only given the chance, but there is a lack of teachers who are trained to use this type of approach. We need to meet the challenge of adequately preparing teachers to handle the literacy needs of this population, so students can reach their highest potential in life.

The following chapter will present the methodology and research approach used in this study, which investigates the key question as to whether special education teachers are being adequately trained and equipped to meet the literacy needs of students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities).

The two null hypotheses posit that there is no relationship between teacher training in reading instruction and the level of teacher confidence or effectiveness in the implementation of literacy instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities).

The two alternate hypotheses postulate that a relationship does exist between the level of training and teacher confidence and effectiveness in the area of reading instruction.

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

Design of the Investigation

The design of this investigation required a quantitative research approach involving statistical analysis of descriptive data obtained as to the level of satisfaction and effectiveness of special education teacher-training as well as the implementation of reading instruction within special education classrooms.

A survey developed by the author was the instrument of choice to accomplish this task. The variables investigated included teacher information on gender, ethnicity, and age, credentialing, training, experience, and beliefs and practices regarding reading instruction, including teacher confidence, frequency of instruction, and teacher effectiveness as determined by student progress in reading.

A three-page survey (see Appendix B) containing 18 structured questions addressing the above variables was developed by the author and then distributed to two different groups of special education teachers attending separate in-service trainings. All teachers who completed

the survey were currently teaching in programs designed for students with severe disabilities.

The following is a description of the variables contained within the survey questions. Question 1 asks for the gender, ethnicity, and age of the teacher. Questions 2 and 3 ask what credentials are held: what type of special or general education credentials, and whether they are emergency, preliminary, or clear. Questions 4-6 request information on experience in general and special education as well as the total number of years teaching. Question 7 asks for details regarding student characteristics as to age, gender, and ethnicity of the teacher's current class.

Questions 8-11 focus on teacher training received in reading instruction, what type, and how helpful it was, and how teachers rate their current level of confidence in teaching reading to general and special education students, i.e. Novice (N), Competent (C), and Very Competent (VC).

Questions 12-17 address teachers' reading instructional practices as to frequency, methods and materials used, and resulting student progress within a one-year time frame. (For the purpose of this study, student progress is equated with teacher effectiveness).

Finally, question 18 requests teachers to indicate what interest they have in further training. At the end of the survey, an opportunity for additional comments was provided.

The use of this survey facilitated the collection and analysis of data needed to find specific information to answer specific questions, which, in the end, would help determine the level of support or lack thereof for this study's hypotheses (Charles & Mertler, 2002). The data collected would help support or negate the existence of relationships between certain variables, such as: teacher confidence and teacher training and experience; teacher confidence and teacher effectiveness; and teacher confidence and/or effectiveness and the desire for further training.

Population and/or Participants

Forty-two (N = 42) special education teachers participated in this study by filling out a survey indicating their thoughts and opinions regarding their training and experiences in the area of reading instruction. As to gender, the teachers surveyed were 64% female and 36% male; ages ranged from 27 to 71 with the average age being 45 years old. Only 39 teachers indicated

ethnicity. Caucasians made up 72% of the teachers with Asians, Hispanics, and African-Americans each being almost equally represented at around 10%.

All of the survey participants, as already noted, were currently teaching students with severe disabilities within the following types of programs: Emotionally Disturbed (ED); Trainably Mentally Handicapped (TMH); Multiple Handicapped (MH); Autistic (Aut); and Severe and Profound (DD).

Treatment

A three-page survey (see Appendix B) containing 18 questions covering the training and implementation of reading instruction was distributed to two different groups of special education teachers attending in-service trainings. At the first in-service, 23 surveys were handed out; 21 were collected. At the second in-service, 21 surveys were distributed with a 100% being returned. Of the surveys distributed, 42 of the 44 were collected resulting in a 95% return.

A grid containing all the variables from the survey was developed. Each variable was coded with a numerical value. These codes were merely labels or names and had no other significance. The data information from the surveys

was translated into code and transferred onto the grid sheets by hand. Afterward the data from the grid sheets was inputted into the computer software program entitled, Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). When this process was completed, the results from the statistical analysis were printed out. The printed results included frequency counts along with means, modes, and standard deviations.

Data Analysis Procedures

Analysis of the collected data was mainly accomplished through the SPSS computer software program, which performed the statistical calculations necessary to reveal specific information on frequencies, means, modes, and standard deviations. In addition to using this software, relationships or possible correlation between certain variables were tallied by hand. Afterwards, tables containing these variables and the tallied results were developed and observed by the author in order to discover any trends or connections between the variables.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Presentation of the Findings

The results of the study will be presented in chronological order according to the 18 survey questions. Following these, several additional tables are presented showing the relationship between several sets of variables. Statistical data for the most part will be given in tabular form along with some narrative (unless otherwise stated, N=42 represents the number of valid survey responses).

Table 1. Teachers According to Gender, Ethnicity, and Age

Question 1: T	eacher in	formation	: gender,	ethn	icity	, age
<pre>Gender: (N =</pre>	•			(N = 3	-	
#	%		Range			
Males 15	37		Mean	45	5	
Females 26	63		Mode	44	(4)	
					#	%
Ethnicity: (N	= 38)		Late 2	20's	3	8
	#	%]	30's	9	24
African Ameri	can 3	8	4	40 ′ s	11	30
Hispanic	3	8	į	50 ′ s	9	24
Asian	4	10	į	60's	4	11
Caucasian	28	74		70 ′ s	1	3

In regard to teacher information, female teachers outnumber the males in an almost 2:1 ratio, 64% being female and 36% male. In addition, there is a rather large

representation of Caucasian teachers (72%) with a much lower but almost equal representation of the remaining ethnic groups, around 10% each for African American, Asian, and Hispanic teachers. Ages ranged from 27 to 71 with the average age being 45 years old, which could have allowed the possibility for more training as well as teaching experience.

Table 2. Teachers with Credentials Completed or in Progress

Ques	tions 2	2 & 3: Credentialing
#	ઌ	
10	24	Mild/Moderate
28	67	Moderate/Severe
16	38	Multi-Subject
9	21	Single Subject
20	48	Have 1-3 Clear Credentials (SPED and/or GEN)
18	43	Have Clear General Education Credentials
16	38	Emergency Permit currently in SPED
15	36	Have received their Special Ed Credential within the last five (5) years (1998-2003)

Almost 40% of the teachers indicated that they held only an emergency permit in special education as opposed to a preliminary or a clear credential (This study was done just prior to the internship requirement established in 2003).

Close to half (20) of the teachers stated that they held 1-3 clear special and/or general education credentials. Within the last five years 15 of the 42

teachers (36%) have obtained their special education credentials.

Experience

All the teachers surveyed were currently teaching students with severe disabilities within the following types of special education programs: Emotionally Disturbed (ED); Trainably Mentally Handicapped (TMH); Multiple Handicapped (MH); Autistic (Aut); and Severe and Profound (DD). Many teachers have experience in a variety of the programs listed in Table 3. An example of how to read each line is as follows: ED - 18 teachers said they have taught ED; only 16 teachers reported the number of years taught; and the average number of years (mean) taught was 4.

Table 3. Experience with Students with Severe Disabilities

Quest	ions 4:	Experience
Туре	Number Taught	Number Reporting Years Taught
ED	18	16 reported number of years; mean = 4 yrs
TMH	18	15 reported number of years; mean = 7 yrs
MH	10	7 reported number of years; mean = 2 yrs
AUT	16	12 reported number of years; mean = 3 yrs
DD	17	13 reported number of years; mean = 5 yrs

Table 4. Years of Teaching Experience

Question	n 5 &	6: Exp	erienc	е				
	G	EN		S	PED		TY	
Years	#	— %		#	 %	#		
0	22	52		_	_	_	-	
1-2	8	18		5	12	5	12	
3-5	6	15		15	35	13	31	
TY 1-5	14	33		20	47	18	43	
6-10	4	10		7	17	4	10	
11-15	0	0		6	15	5	12	
16-19	2	4		2	4	3	7	
20+	-	-		7	17	12	28	
Mode	6	15	(1-yr)	6	15	(5-yrs) 7	17	(5-yrs)
Teacher	s 20	48		42	100%	_	_	_
w/expe:	rience							
Range (y	rs) 1-	-20		1	-28		1-39	
Mean		3			11		13	
SD		4			8		10	

The average number (mean) of total years (TY) teaching was 13 years. However, the standard deviation (SD) was 10 years. This larger number representing the standard deviation indicates there was a wide range of teaching experience, which included both general (GEN) and special education (SPED).

Total Years. Almost 30% of the teachers have 20 or more total years of experience. Over 40% of all the teachers had only 1-5 years total teaching experience, with five years having the greatest frequency overall.

General Education. Close to half (48%) of the teachers have experience teaching in a general education

setting ranging from 1-20 years. One-third of the teachers have 1-5 years of experience. Only 5% have more than 10 years.

Special Education. Special education experience ranges from 1-28 years. Almost half have only 1-5 years of experience. Nearly 40% have more than 10 years.

Current Class Type. Without access to class lists while completing the survey, it was difficult for teachers to remember the number of students in each gender and ethnic category. As a result, the mixture of responses given varied between actual numbers and checkmarks to indicate the presence of those categories, and partial information or complete blanks.

In light of these discrepancies, only the results of class type will be stated. The other student variables of age, gender, and ethnicity have little or no bearing on this particular study.

Table 5. Teachers' Current Class Type

Question	7: Cur	rent class type, age, gender and ethnicity
#	ક	(N = 41)
5	12	ED
10	24	TMH
4	10	MH
4	10	AUT
6	15	DD
3	7	LH (Learning Handicapped)
9	22	Not Specified

Table 6. Training Received in Reading Instruction

		e/University		ervi			ne
#	ૄ		#	ુ		#	—_ %
15	37	(1 Class)	6	15	(1-3 hrs)	4	10
5	12	(2 Classes)	3	7	(1 day)		
12	29	(3 Classes)	9	22	(2-3 days)		
4	10	(Degree/Cert)	3	7	(1 week)		
36	88	_ ,	21	51		4	10
<u>Sel</u>	<u>f-Ta</u>	aught included:	_		(4); Reading (ark

Training

Around 90% of the teachers had formal reading instruction in a college or university setting (the most common being one class or three classes), compared to a little over 50% who participated in inservice trainings (the most common length being two to three days). Four teachers already held a degree in reading instruction, but four had not had any formal college training at all. Two others had received only a few inservice hours.

Table 7. Degree of Assistance From College Training

Quest	ion 9: 1	Degree of assistance
#	%	
6	14	No training received
3	7	Not at all
17	41	Somewhat helpful
16	38	Very helpful

About 40% of the teachers rated the college training they had received as very helpful. Six teachers (14%) had not received any formal college training in reading instruction. Of those who had, 50% felt it had been only somewhat helpful or not at all.

Table 8. Trainings Indicated as Most Helpful

Questi	ion 10:	Which training was most helpful?
#	%	
16	38	College/University, included: CLAD, RICA
3	7	Inservice Prep, Cal State Classes
5	12	Self-Taught
4	10	None
14	33	Not specified

Many teachers (33%) did not specify which type of training they felt was most helpful. Of those who did, the majority (almost 40%) indicated their college or university training was most beneficial. Only 7% marked inservice as most helpful.

Table 9. Teacher Confidence in Teaching Reading

Questio	Question 11: Level of confidence in teaching reading					
General Education Students Special Education Students						
#	%		#	ક		
12	30	Novice	11	26	Novice	
20	48	Competent	19	45	Competent	
5	12	Very competent	12	29	Very competent	
5	12	Not specified			_ _	

Teacher Confidence

Teacher confidence levels for teaching reading to general (GEN) and special education (SPED) students were pretty comparable for Novice and Competent teachers. Very Competent SPED teachers were almost double those in GEN, partly because of those who did not specify themselves. Several reasons for teachers not specifying themselves for GEN could be lack of experience in that area or because it was not their current setting.

Many teachers rated themselves differently between SPED and GEN. Therefore, to avoid confusion and complexity, teacher confidence will be according to how teachers classified themselves in teaching reading to special education students, since that is the focus of this study.

Table 10. Teacher Opinion on How Their Students Best Learn to Read

Quest	ion 12:	: How do your students learn best?
#	્રે	(N = 41)
10	25	Phonics
15	37	Other methods
. 7	· 17	Phonics & Other methods
5	12	Not able to learn reading
3	7	Other methods & Not able to learn
1	2	Phonics, Other methods, Not able to learn

Implementation

The majority of teachers indicated their students are able to learn reading by phonics and/or other literacy activities. The 12-20% who say their students cannot learn to read were mainly in DD and MH classes where ability levels may only allow students to learn a few sight and survival words, if at all.

Table 11. Teachers Teaching Reading

Questic	on 13	: Do you	teach	reading?		
#	ક				 	
35	83	Yes				
7	17	No				

The percentages in Table 11 suggest that many students are receiving some level of reading instruction within the classroom.

Table 12. Methods Used to Teach Reading

Quest	ion 14	Reading methods used
#	ૄ	(N = 40)
29	73	Survival Words/Signs
20	50	Sight Words
13	33	Whole Literature
22	55	Phonics
12	30	Computer Software
8	20	Other Methods, included: Teacher reading aloud, Paired Reading, & Tutoring

A high percentage of teachers use sight (50%) and survival signs (73%) to teach reading, which confirms what the literature suggests regarding the emphasis on functional skills for this population. Phonics is used by 55% of the teachers.

Table 13. Programs/Materials Used to Teach Reading

Quest	Question 15: Programs/Materials used							
#	%	(N = 40)						
4	10	Hooked On Phonics						
4	10	Sing, Spell, Read, & Write (Phonics)						
8	20	Literature						
3	8	Basal Readers						
6	15	SRA						
23	58	Other Programs, included: Zoophonics, Edmark, Project Read, PECS, & Reader Rabbit						

A fairly high percentage of teachers (58%) said they used other literacy programs than those listed. The three most frequently mentioned were Project Read (4), Zoophonics (6), and Edmark (5). Reader Rabbit, PECS, and High Frequency Word Lists were also mentioned.

Table 14. Frequency Per Week for Reading Instruction

Questi	on 16:	Frequency	per	week	for	reading	instruction
#	%						
1	2	Zero (0)					
6	14	1-2 times					
13	31	3-4					
22	53	5 or more					•

Further Training

Teachers desiring further training preferred one college/university class and/or a one-day inservice above the other options listed. Six teachers (15%) wanted a degree or certificate in reading instruction; five requested mentoring to increase their skill.

Table 17. Further Training Relative to Teacher Confidence

Confidence:	Novice	Competen	Very t <u>Competent</u>	TOTALS		
•	(11)	(19)	(12)	(42)		
Training:				#	용	
Inservice Only	2	6	6	14	33	
1 Class	2	3	0	5	12	
1 Class + Inservice	2	1	1	4	10	
2 Classes	0	1	0	1	2	
3 Classes + Inservice	2	1	0	. 3	7	
Degree/Cert	1	4	1	6	15	
TOTALS	9 218	16 38%	8 19%	33	79	
(Not Desired)	2	3	4	9	21	

Notable points regarding the desire for further training according to teacher confidence:

- 1. One-third of all teachers desire only inservices
- Competent teachers had the highest percentage of those wanting further training

- 3. Six teachers were interested in a degree or certificate; four of those were Competent teachers
- 4. Higher the level of confidence, higher the number of teachers who did not feel the need for further training (e.g. Novice 2; Very Competent 4)

Table 18. Further Training According to Teacher Effectiveness (Student Progress)

Student Progress:	Very Little	½ Yr	1 Yr	1+	Varies	TO	rals
	(18)	(9)	(8)	(1)	(6)	(42	2)
Training:						#	%
Inservice Only	6	3	2	1	2	14	33
1 Class	3	2	0	-	0	5	12
1 Class + Inservice	1 '	1	1	_	1	4	10
2 Classes	1	0	0	-	0	1	2
3 Classes + Inservice	2	0	0	-	1	3	7
Degree/Cert	2	1	3	_	0	6	15
TOTALS	1536%	7 22%	6 19%	1 2%	4 14%	33	79
(Not Desired)	3	2	2		2	9	21

Fifteen of the 18 teachers (36%) who experienced very little reading progress with their students desired further training to increase their effectiveness in the

area of reading instruction. This group had the greatest representation. Two expressed an interest in obtaining a degree or certificate.

Table 19. Teacher Profile Relative to Teacher Confidence

			Very							
N = 42	Novice		Comp	Competent		Competent		TOTALS		
	#	%	#_	용	#_	ે	#	%		
Teachers:	11	26	19	45	12	29	42	100		
Credentials										
Emergency	7		6		3		16	38		
Preliminary	1		6		1		8	19		
Clear	3		7		8		18	43		
Training in Readir	ıg In	struc	tion	ion (College/Unive				rsity)		
0 Classes	2		3		1		6	14		
1 Class	6		6		4		16	38		
2 Classes	3		2		1		6	14		
3 Classes	0		7		3		10	24		
Degree/Cert	0		1		3		4	10		
Training - How Hel	pful	?								
No training	2		3		1		6	14		
Not at all	1		1		1		3	7		
Somewhat	4		10		3		17	41		
Very	4		5		7		16	38		

Experience

								Very		
		Novice		C	ompeter	<u>nt</u>	Competent			
Years:	\mathtt{TY}	SPED	GEN	TY	SPED	GEN	TY	SPED	GEN	
0	-	-	6	_	-	10	_	_	6	
1-2	5	5	2	0	0	4	0	0	2	
3-5	_ 3	3	1	8	10	2	2	2	3	
TY 1-5	8	8	3	8	10	6	2	2	5	
6-10	0	1	1	2	2	3	2	4	0	
11-15	1	0	0	2	4	=	2	2	0	
16-20	0	1	1	3	0	-	2	2	1	
21-25	0	1	-	3	3	-	1	0	-	
26-30+	2	-	-	1	_	-	3	2	_	

Note: TY = Total Years; SPED = Special Ed; GEN = General Ed

Teacher profile characteristics (see Table 19) relative to teacher confidence will be elaborated on in the discussion section.

Table 20. Correlation Between Teacher Confidence and Teacher Effectiveness, Including Frequency of Reading Instruction

Student	Ve	ery									
Progress:	Lit	<u>Little</u>		½ Year		1 Year		<u>1+</u>		<u>Varies</u>	
Teachers:	#	F	#	F	#	F	#	F	#	F	
(11)	10		0		1		0		0		
Novice	3	3=1-2				1=5x					
	3	3 = 3 - 4									
	4	l=5x									
(19)	7		7		2		0		3		
Competent		=0	•	=1-2		=3-4	U		_	1=3-4	
Competent		.=1-2		=3-4		-J - I				1=5=4 2=5x	
		3=3=4		=5x						Z-JA	
		2=5x	J	-511							
(12)	1		2		5		1		1		
Very		1=5x		2=5x	1	=1-2		1=3-4		3=5x	
Competent					4	=5x					
momn = 0											
TOTALS:											
Progress:	18	43%	9	22%	8	19%	1	2%	6	14%	
Frequency 3-5:	13	61	8	89%	7	888	1	100%	6	100%	
5x:	7	39	5	71%	5	62%	0	0%	5	83%	

Table 20 suggests the following:

Novices - 90% had very little progress of students in the area of reading

- 2. Only 1 Novice had 1 year of reading progress (F=5x)
- 3. Very Competent teachers 50% experienced 1 year or more in student reading progress
- 4. Only 1 Very Competent teacher experienced very little progress
- 5. Fourteen of the 19 teachers (34%) who considered themselves Competent, generally experienced only % year or less reading progress in students over a year.

At the end of the survey, two teachers gave additional comments regarding reading instruction:

- 1. One teacher desires more training after Masters and Level II credential are completed.
- 2. Another strongly feels every primary grade teacher (K-2) should have a reading specialist credential.

Discussion of the Findings

The variables considered in this study included teacher information on gender, ethnicity, and age, credentialing, training, experience, and beliefs and practices regarding reading instruction, including teacher

confidence, frequency and methods of instruction, and student progress (teacher effectiveness).

Wide Ranges

This group of 42 special education teachers had a wide range of ages, credentialing and training as well as experience. Many of the statistical results show an almost perfect bell curve. For example, for teacher confidence in teaching reading to special education students, teachers rated themselves as follows: 11 Novices (N), 19 Competent (C), and 12 Very Competent (VC). Novice and Very Competent teachers being close in number as well as being at opposite ends of a continuum help make characteristics, trends, similarities, and differences between the two groups easy to see. Several factors regarding the larger middle group (Competents) are also revealing.

Credentialing

Almost 40% of the teachers indicated that they held only an emergency permit in special education as opposed to a preliminary or a clear credential. Within the last five years 15 of the 42 teachers (36%) have obtained their special education credentials. Combined, these figures indicate that about 75% of this group's teaching force are in process of becoming or are newly credentialed special education teachers. In addition, nearly 50% of the

teachers have only 1-5 years of experience in special education. On the other end of the scale, however, almost half (20) stated that they held 1-3 clear special and/or general education credentials.

Experience

Total Years. Almost 30% of the teachers have 20 or more total years of experience. In contrast, over 40% have only 1-5 years of experience, five years having the greatest frequency.

General Education. Close to half (45%) of the teachers have no general education teaching experience. Another 40% have less than five years experience.

Special Education. Special education experience ranges from 1-28 years: almost half (45%) have 1-5 years; about one-third (29%) have 8-15 years; and one-fourth (26%) have 16-28 years of teaching experience.

These wide ranges, in the areas of training and experience, result in varying levels of teacher confidence and effectiveness in the implementation of reading instruction for students with severe disabilities.

Teacher Confidence

Altogether 18 teachers (43%) had five or fewer total years of teaching experience. Eight of these rated themselves as Novices in teaching reading to special

education students. Eight rated themselves as Competent, and two as Very Competent.

Certain characteristics were found in the 11 teachers (26%) who considered themselves Novices in teaching reading to special education students. Seven of the 11 Novices were on emergency permits as opposed to only three of the Very Competent teachers (see Table 17). Most Novices had only 1-5 years of teaching experience with little or no previous general education experience. In addition, four of the seven on emergency permits expressed that the training they had received was only somewhat helpful or not at all. The three others indicated their training was very helpful, but two of the three indicated student progress in reading was only a half a year or less.

The other four teachers, who marked themselves as Novices, had clear or preliminary credentials, and more years of experience (most included general education experience also). However, all of them also rated what little reading instruction training they had received as only somewhat helpful or not at all. Two of the four had never received any training in reading instruction (ages 63 and 71; both with over 30 years of experience).

According to Table 17, there seem to be certain trends relative to teacher training in reading instruction and its impact on the level of teacher confidence progressing from Novice (N), to Competent (C), to Very Competent (VC) (addressing Question 1 in the "Statement of the Problem" section).

First of all, obtaining higher-level credentials seems to affect teacher confidence (fewer emergency permits compared to more preliminary and clear credentials, i.e. more training).

Table 21. Credentialing Relative to Teacher Confidence

Novices: 7 of 11 (64%) are on Emergencies
Very Competents: 3 of 12 (25%) are on Emergencies

Novices: 3 of 11 (27%) have Clear Credentials
Very Competents: 8 of 12 (67%) have Clear Credentials

Novices: 1 of 11 (2%) has a Preliminary
Competents: 6 of 19 (14%) have Preliminaries
Very Competents: 1 of 12 (2%) has a Preliminary
(*Most VC's currently hold Clear Credentials)

Only one Novice (N) had a preliminary credential compared to six Competents (C). Also, only one of the Very Competent teachers (VC) held a preliminary credential, but most had already obtained clear credentials. The above statistics support Alternate Hypothesis 1, which posited that the more hours of training teachers receive in

reading instruction the higher their level of confidence in teaching reading. It does not support Null Hypothesis 1, which stated there is no relationship between the two variables of training and teacher confidence.

Secondly, more hours of college/university training in reading instruction make an impact on teacher confidence also (see Table 17). One hundred percent of the Novices (11) had only 0-2 classes, some of which included inservice trainings. Although about half of the C's & VC's had only 0-2 classes as well, at least 40-50% of the Competents (8) and VC's (6) had taken three or more classes, including four who had degrees or certificates in reading instruction. The number of degrees/certificates held in reading parallels the level of teacher confidence: Novices had none (0); Competents had one (1); and Very Competents had three (3).

These findings additionally show a positive relationship between the number of training hours received and teachers' confidence level in implementing reading instruction, once again lending support to Alternate Hypothesis 1.

The findings also seem to suggest that the Very

Competent teachers felt their training time had been more

beneficial (see Table 17 Training - How Helpful?).

Overall, 48% of the teachers surveyed (42) who received training felt it was only somewhat helpful or not at all. On the other hand, 67% of the VC's felt their training was very helpful compared to only 36% of the Novices (almost double the difference). Again, the Novices had only taken up to two classes, whereas these VC's had taken three or more.

Perhaps the Novices found that their limited training was not sufficient to meet the challenges of reading instruction for this population, whereas, after three or more classes, the VC's seem to have been able to effectively implement the skills they had learned. As an example, learning to use a saw is a critical aspect of carpentry, but nothing can be put together effectively without combining a few additional tools, such as a hammer and nails.

It is important to consider other factors regarding the number of teachers who have had little or no training in the area of reading instruction. As mentioned earlier, reading difficulties are the number one reason for student referrals into special education. Yet, 14% of the teachers in this study had not had any formal training in this area. Four of these six teachers had 15-35 years experience, with the majority of their time being spent in

TMH or ED classes serving students most likely to benefit from formal instruction in literacy. This may seem like a small percentage until one considers the ramifications of 14% of the doctors being thrust into the world of medicine without any formal training on the spread of disease, a crucial component in that field.

Another 38% (16) of the teachers surveyed had had only one formal training class in reading instruction, five having had a few additional inservice hours and one other had a week-long inservice training. Out of the 16, only three had 1-2 years of experience, eight had 3-5 years, and five had 10-20 years experience. It seems the majority of these teachers (13 of 16) had been in class settings (TMH, ED, AUT) for lengthy periods of time (3-20 years), in which, as the research has shown, students could benefit from reading instruction, yet they had had little or no training in this area. Only four of the 16 teachers were in DD programs for the severe and profound and indicated their students could not learn to read. Unfortunately, with what little training these teachers had received, 10 of the 16 (63%) indicated the training was only somewhat helpful or not at all.

Lastly, 18 of the 42 teachers (43%) had five or fewer total years of teaching experience. Eight of these rated

themselves as Novices in teaching reading to special education students. Eight rated themselves as Competent, and two as Very Competent.

If the total years of experience are broken down a bit more, a significant difference emerges (see Table 17). All of the teachers (5) having only 1-2 years of total teaching experience put themselves in the Novice category; whereas, none of the Competent or Very Competent teachers had fewer than three years experience.

Three out of 11 Novice teachers (27%) had six or more years of experience. In contrast, ten out of 12 Very Competent teachers (83%) had six or more years. These figures shed light on Question 2 put forth in the "Statement of the Problem" section, suggesting that the amount of teaching experience enhances teacher confidence. Teacher Effectiveness

Considering the numbers from Table 20 on teacher confidence versus teacher effectiveness (i.e. student progress), there appears to be a correlation between these two variables (Question 3). Ninety percent of the Novices (10 of 11) experienced very little reading progress from their students as opposed to 8% of the Very Competent teachers (1 of 12). Two other VC's measured a half a year's progress. At the other end of the scale, 50% of the

VC's (6 of 12) experienced one year or more studentreading progress in contrast to only 9% from the Novices (1 of 11).

Students classified by their teachers as making "very little progress" in reading did not appear to be affected by the frequency of reading instruction nor the teacher confidence level. Frequency of instruction for the 18 N's, C's, and VC's teachers all varied in range from one to five times per week, yet the results were the same - "little progress" (Question 4).

In contrast, students classified by their teachers (C's & VC's only) as making a half a year's progress or more in reading were perhaps influenced by the frequency of instruction as well as teacher confidence level. This included teachers who said student progress varied according to ability. About 90% (22 of 24) of these teachers overall had frequency rates of 3-5 times per week for reading instruction as opposed to 60% of the Novices. Only one of the 11 Novices indicated a higher reading progress rate of one year; her frequency rate was five times per week for reading instruction.

Teachers who saw more results tended to have higher frequency rates in general, but overall, frequency of reading instruction seemed to have a beneficial impact on

reading progress in combination with the level of teacher expertise and confidence.

A major confounding variable of student progress in reading achievement could be that of student ability and disability type. Since data regarding class type was partial and incomplete (22% did not specify class type), it was difficult to analyze the full impact of this factor. It could be likely that students in TMH (24%), ED (12%), and LH (7%) classes (totaling 43%) might experience greater progress in reading than students in DD (15%), MH (10%), and AUT (10%) classes (totaling 35%). It is interesting to note that the TMH percentage (24%) is almost double that of any other class type indicated.

Despite the confounding variable mentioned above, the statistics from Table 20 raise a concern that 65% of the teachers (27 of 42) indicated their student progress in reading fell within a half a year or less. Half (14) of these teachers (52%) considered themselves competent in teaching reading to special education students.

These percentages are in great contrast to other studies (already mentioned) which have been done on reading progress experienced by students with disabilities (including mental retardation) using a variety of reading

programs as well as specially trained teachers (i.e. Four Blocks Method, Reading Recovery, Marva Collins Seminars).

Sometimes teachers may feel their teaching methods are effective because from their viewpoint some progress seems evident. For example, Flesch's (1986) reference to the veteran first-grade teacher who, after being trained to implement a phonics-first reading program, observed her students' increased growth in reading. She expressed the surprising and sad realization that previously she only "thought" she had been teaching reading!

In conclusion, the findings suggest that the more training hours in reading instruction, the higher the level of teacher effectiveness in implementing literacy instruction for students with severe disabilities. This lends support to Alternate Hypothesis 2, which stated that there is a relationship between the amount of teacher training in reading instruction and the level of teacher effectiveness in implementing literacy instruction. It does not support Null Hypothesis 2, which stated there is no relationship between the two variables of training and teacher effectiveness.

Further Training

Relationship to teacher confidence (Table 17). Almost 80% of the teachers expressed a desire for further

training in the area of reading instruction. Nine teachers did not indicate an interest. Only two of these were Novice teachers; three were Competent; and four were Very Competent. The number of teachers not interested in further training seems to increase according to the level of teacher confidence. Possible explanations for lack of interest may be gleaned from their profiles. Almost all held clear or preliminary credentials (three of whom had certificates in reading instruction). Most had ten or more years of teaching experience. Both of these variables (training and experience) can influence skill level and expertise as well as confidence. In addition, several teachers felt they had not benefited from what little training they had already received, and a few taught in DD classes with students not likely to gain literacy skills. Both of these factors could decrease motivation.

Competent teachers had the highest percentage of those wanting further training (38%). Six teachers were interested in a degree or certificate; four of those were Competent teachers. A possible rationale for the higher interest level of Competent teachers is that they may have learned and experienced enough to be somewhat effective in teaching reading, but could also see the benefit of further training to increase their skills.

One-third of all the teachers (especially Competent and Very Competent) desired only inservices, a less demanding form of training. Again, this may be due to the higher confidence level of these teachers. Only two Novices chose just inservice.

Relationship to teacher effectiveness. It was encouraging to see that so many teachers (15 of 18) who experienced very little reading progress with their students (36%) desired further training to increase their effectiveness in teaching reading. This group by far had the greatest representation being made up mostly from Novice (10) and Competent teachers. Two even expressed an interest in obtaining a degree or certificate.

Also, as shown earlier, it seems many Competent teachers as well as Novices need further training in light of the high percentage of students gaining less than a year's growth in reading.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

This study was designed to investigate whether special education teachers are adequately trained and equipped to meet the literacy needs of students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities). The design of this investigation required a quantitative research approach involving statistical analysis of descriptive data obtained from 42 special education teachers as to the level of satisfaction and effectiveness of training already received in the area of reading instruction as well as their needs and desires for further training.

A survey developed by the author was the instrument of choice to accomplish this task. The variables considered included teacher information on gender, ethnicity, and age, credentialing, training, experience, and beliefs and practices regarding reading instruction, including teacher confidence, frequency of instruction, and teacher effectiveness as determined by student progress in reading.

Results of the survey revealed that the greater the amount of training and experience special education teachers have, the higher their levels of confidence and effectiveness in implementing reading instruction for students with severe disabilities. The study also found that, although some respondents benefited a great deal from the training they had received, the majority found it only somewhat helpful or not at all.

A concern was that at least 65% of the teachers felt their students' progress in reading was only one-half a year or less within a year time period. These findings would indicate a need for further evaluation of teacher practices and level of expertise as well as student needs in the area of reading.

A consensus already exists about the literacy capabilities of students with mild to moderate mental retardation. The challenge is to adequately prepare teachers to handle the literacy needs of this population. Additional results from this study indicated that 80% of the special education teachers wanted further training in reading instruction. Collaboration and commitment between those who specialize in reading and special education is crucial in order to develop the teaching expertise

necessary to help these students to achieve their highest potential in the area of literacy.

Conclusions

This study investigated the following key question:

Are special education teachers adequately trained and
equipped to meet the literacy needs of students with mild
to moderate mental retardation, particularly those served
in programs classified as severely handicapped? To help
guide the ensuing research, two null hypotheses were
developed, each being accompanied by an alternate
hypothesis.

The results of this study seem to support the alternate hypotheses rather than the null hypotheses, which stated that a relationship does exist between teacher training in reading instruction and the level of teacher confidence and effectiveness in implementing literacy instruction for students with mild to moderate mental retardation (severe disabilities).

The results given in Table 17 seem to indicate a certain teacher profile according to level of confidence in teaching reading to special education students. Novice teachers tended to lack training and credentials and had fewer years of teaching experience. Very Competent

teachers often had the opposite characteristics, and Competent teachers tended to be in the middle.

Frequency of reading instruction did appear to impact student progress and there seemed to be a relationship between teacher confidence and effectiveness. This study also showed the need for further training in order to improve student progress in reading. Special education teachers require specific skills and knowledge in order to meet the literacy needs of students with severe disabilities most effectively.

In regard to further training, teachers with lower levels of confidence and effectiveness appeared to have a stronger interest in improving their instructional skills in reading, although many who felt competent saw the benefit of honing their skills also. Special education teachers do have many instructional skills, but there is always room for growth so students can make the highest possible gains.

Students deserve the best opportunities and services available. This is especially true for students with learning issues. This suggests that teachers need specialized training in order to meet the literacy needs of these students. In addition, most researchers concur that phonics is a crucial element in an effective reading

program and that teachers, particularly those working with special education students, need instruction in the use of this method.

Students with mental retardation and severe disabilities should not be forgotten on either end of the scale. Children, regardless of age or ability level, are never too young to be exposed to a literacy rich environment and given the opportunity to gain as many reading skills as possible. They are never too old to receive reading instruction if they want it and they have the capability. If these underlying beliefs and philosophies prevail, the need for training in reading instruction will be prioritized and deemed necessary in helping students achieve literacy.

Limitations of Study Design and Procedures

Due to lack of time and availability of an adequate
number of teachers teaching students with mild to moderate
mental retardation (with IQ's ranging from 36-68), the 42
special education teachers surveyed work with students
possessing a much wider range of abilities than was the
particular focus of this study. Student disabilities ran
the gamut from the severe and profound, who may often
never learn to read even simple words, to students with

emotional disturbances, who typically have normal intelligence and often read at grade level. Therefore, answers given on the surveys to questions regarding student abilities as well as methods and materials used for reading instruction vary accordingly. The main objective of this study, however, was to obtain information on the level and effectiveness of training in literacy instruction which special education teachers have received.

A common limitation inherent in survey research is that the data collected is self-reported. Responses received from the survey were teachers' opinions and thoughts regarding their training experiences and their effectiveness in facilitating student progress in reading. It is important to have the perspective of teachers because they are the ones who work so closely with the students and are most familiar with their own needs as well as those of the students.

A major limitation of this study was the lack of opportunity to observe teachers involved in actual reading instruction. In order to determine true teacher effectiveness, it would be necessary to obtain students' baseline reading levels prior to beginning a predetermined period of instruction as well as the measurement of their

reading levels following this instruction. Teacher effectiveness ratings by supervisors, in addition to teachers rating themselves, could be beneficial in providing more objective input regarding student progress in reading.

Future Research and Recommendations

It appears that many students within this population may not be currently receiving instruction within balanced, integrated literacy programs. Further research is necessary to determine this. In addition, further research is needed on the existence and quality of teacher training in the area of literacy instruction for those educating students with mental retardation as well as other disabilities. Determining the number of courses required as well as the resulting level of satisfaction and teacher competency are important in the ongoing evaluation and maintenance of an effective literacy program. Extensive training comparable to that which Reading Recovery teachers receive may not be feasible or even warranted; however, it seems that more in-depth training in reading instruction for special education teachers is necessary.

In light of Reading Recovery's success in reducing the number of students initially referred to special education, research studies following the implementation of this program could indicate the benefits of using it as an effective avenue of increasing literacy skills for those students currently receiving special education services. What would be the success rate of using the Reading Recovery model for older non-readers with mental retardation?

In the final analysis, care should be taken not to stereotype students or hold tenaciously to preconceived ideas regarding reading ability or potential. There are students with such severe disabilities who may only be able to learn functional reading and survival signs within the community. However, conclusions as to ability should not be formed without at least giving students at any age the chance to learn and perform using a variety of methods and materials. Decisions about which reading approaches to utilize, should be based on the needs, abilities, and desires of the students.

Research shows that students will benefit from a well-balanced, integrated approach if only given the chance, but there is a lack of teachers who are trained to use this type of approach. We need to meet this challenge

of adequately preparing teachers to handle the literacy needs of this population. Collaboration and commitment between those who specialize in reading and special education is crucial in order to develop the teaching expertise needed to help these students achieve their highest potential in the area of literacy and become viable members of the literary community.

APPENDIX A THE FOUR BLOCKS FRAMEWORK

THE FOUR BLOCKS FRAMEWORK

- 1. <u>Guided Reading</u>: (previously called basal block)
 - Multiple copies of student books
 - Materials become increasingly more difficult
 - Exposure to wide range of literature
 - Emphasis on vocabulary and comprehension strategies
 - Choral reading; Reader's Theatre; Modeling
- 2. <u>Self-Selected Reading Block: literature/trade books</u>
 - Students choose what they want to read
 - Appropriate levels of text for independent reading; rereading
 - Student / Teacher conferencing
- 3. <u>Writing Block</u>: (Language / Writing Experience)
 - Motivating: use student's own language & experience
 - Whole or small group
 - Dictate thoughts to adults
 - Software with talking text (Write Out Loud)
- 4. Working with Words: (phonics & spelling)

- Phonics - Word walls

Sight words
 Used in context

Pictures - Rhyming

(Cunningham et al., 1999)

APPENDIX B TEACHER SURVEY

TEACHER SURVEY Level of Literacy Training of Special Education Teachers

(All information gathered will remain anonymous and confidential. Information given will not result in you being contacted for commitments or obligations.)

Reading: ability to gain meaning from text for: communication, information. pleasure

Gender	Ethnicity	Age	(of teacher)
What type of <i>cred</i>	entials do you hold? ((Mark <u># of year</u>	<u>rs</u> held)
Emergency:	Special Ed	General	Ed .
Mild/Mod Ed	uc. Specialist: Educ. Specialist:	Preliminary	Clear
Mod/Severe F	Educ. Specialist:	_ Preliminary	Clear
Multi-Subject	: Preliminary	Clear	
	t: Preliminary		
•	ng disability types: H, Autistic, Di	D (Severe/Profo	und)
ED, TMH, MILList the types of in	• • • •	lities you have t	aught, the age of th
ED, TMH, Mi List the types of instudents, and how	H, Autistic, Dindividuals with disabi	lities you have to (eg. ED/14-18/	aught, the age of th
ED, TMH, Mi	H, Autistic, Di	lities you have to (eg. ED/14-18/	aught, the age of th
ED, TMH, Mi List the types of instudents, and how	Autistic, Dindividuals with disabilong you taught them	lities you have to (eg. ED/14-18/	aught, the age of the 3 years). None
ED, TMH, Mi List the types of instudents, and how How many years 1	H, Autistic, Dindividuals with disabi	lities you have to (eg. ED/14-18/	aught, the age of the 3 years). None
ED, TMH, Mi List the types of instudents, and how How many years 1 General Ed:	Autistic, Dindividuals with disabilong you taught them	lities you have to (eg. ED/14-18/	aught, the age of the 3 years). None
ist the types of intudents, and how How many years 1 General Ed:	Autistic, Dindividuals with disabilong you taught them have you taught Gene Grade?	lities you have to (eg. ED/14-18, eral Ed? How many year How many year.	aught, the age of the 3 years). None

	of your <u>current clas</u>	<u>ss</u> ?
Type of Class and A Gender: Males	ges:	
Gender: Males	? Females	***
Ethnicity: Afric	an American e Asian	Hispanic
White	Asian _	Other
What training in ted	aching reading have	you had None
College/University	Inservice	Self-Taught
1 Class	1-3 hours	Please specify:
2 Classes	1 Day	~ ~
3 Classes	2-3 Days	,
Degree/Cert.		
	Other	
wanting was	me most neibini m	preparing you to teach reading
How would you rate	your confidence in	teaching reading:
General Ed Students		
Novice	Competen	t Very competent
Students with disabi	lities?	
Novice	Competen	t Very competent
My students learn to	read best or most e	ffectively <u>using</u> :
Phonics?		Some other method?
Not able to learn	n reading	
Do vou teach readir	g to your students?	YES NO

Survival words/SignsSight word method Program? Whole Language(Literature) Phonics program:Software Programs: Other (please specify): What <i>programs</i> or <i>materials</i> are you currently using? Hooked on Phonics Basal Series
Whole Language(Literature) Phonics program: Software Programs: Other (please specify): What <i>programs</i> or <i>materials</i> are you currently using?
Whole Language(Literature) Phonics program: Software Programs: Other (please specify): What programs or materials are you currently using?
Phonics program: Software Programs: Other (please specify): What programs or materials are you currently using?
Software Programs: Other (please specify): What <i>programs</i> or <i>materials</i> are you currently using?
Other (please specify): What <i>programs</i> or <i>materials</i> are you currently using?
Hooked on Phonics Basal Series
Hooked on PhonicsSing Spell Read and WriteBasal SeriesSRA
Literature (specify)
Other
How many <i>times per week</i> do your students work on reading?
0 1-2 3-4 5 or more
How much progress do you feel your students make each year in reac
Very little½ year1 year1 year +
I would participate in <i>further reading training</i> in the following area(
College/University Inservice Other
1 Class 1-3 hours Mentoring
2 Classes 1 Day Other
3 Classes2-3 Days
Dagwag/Cort 1 Wools
Other Other
OtherOther
itional Comments regarding reading instruction:
(Continue on back if desired)

REFERENCES

- Adams, M. J. (1990). Beginning to read: Thinking and learning about print. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Adams, M. J., Allington, R., Chaney, J., Goodman, Y.,

 Kapinus, B., McGee, L., Richgels, D., Schwartz, S.,

 Shannon, P., Smitten, B., & Williams, J. (1991).

 Beginning to read: A critique by literacy

 professionals and a response by Marilyn Jager Adams.

 The Reading Teacher, 44(6), 370-395.
- Anderson, R., Hiebert, E., Scott, J., & Wilkinson, I.

 (1985). Becoming a nation of readers: The report of
 the commission on reading. Washington, DC: The
 National Institute of Education.
- Bender, M., Valletutti, P., & Bender, R. (1976). Teaching
 the moderately and severely handicapped curriculum
 objectives, strategies, and activities. Volume III
 Functional academics for the mildly and moderately
 handicapped. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Bintz, W. (1993). Resistant readers in secondary education: Some insights and implications. *Journal of Reading*, 36(8), 604-615.

- Black, W. (1974). Self-concept as related to achievement and age in learning-disabled children. Child

 Development, 45, 1137-1140.
- Bochner, S., Outhred, L., & Pieterse, M. (2001). A study of functional literacy skills in young adults with Down syndrome. International Journal of Disability, Development and Education, 48(1), 67-90.
- Bond, G., & Dykstra, R. (1967). The cooperative research program in first-grade reading instruction. Reading Research Quarterly, 2, 5-142.
- Bowler, M. (2002a, April 14). Collins, school reformer,

 delivers on her promises. SunSpot.net (Maryland's

 Online Community). Retrieved August 9, 2002, from

 http://www.sunspot.net/news/readingby9/

 bal-md.edbeat14apr14.column?coll=bal-rb9
- Bowler, M. (2002b, August 4). Reading First puts

 'scientific' mode first. SunSpot.net (Maryland's

 Online Community). Retrieved August 9, 2002, from

 http://www.sunspot.net/news/readingby9/

 bal-md.edbeat04aug04.column?coll=bal%2Drb9

- Cafiero, J. (1997). Classic poetry activities for young people with emergent literacy. Collected works from the Sixth Symposium on Literacy and Disabilities,

 Durham, NC. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED407797)
- CAST Universal Design for Learning. (1999-2000). The thinking reader project: A technology-based instructional approach to support beginning reading in children with mental retardation. Retrieved August 8, 2002, from rmcadow@cast.org
- Cawley, J., & Parmar, R. (1995). Comparisons in reading and reading-related tasks among students with average intellectual ability and students with mild mental retardation. Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, 30, 118-129.
- Cegelka, P., & Cegelka, W. (1970). A review of research:

 Reading and the educable mentally handicapped.

 Exceptional Children, 37, 187-200.
- Chall, J. (1983a). Learning to read: The great debate (Updated edition). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Chall, J. (1983b). Stages in reading development. New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Charles, C., & Mertler, C. (2002). Introduction to educational research. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Cheeseman, E. (1997, January). Effective reading and speech instruction for adolescents and adults with learning disabilities. Collected works from the Sixth Symposium on Literacy and Disabilities, Durham, NC. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED407797)
- Collins, M. (1991). Teaching effective word identification strategies. In B. L. Hayes (Ed.), *Effective*strategies for teaching reading (pp. 13-34). Boston:
 Allyn and Bacon.
- Conners, F. (1992). Reading instruction for students with moderate mental retardation: Review and analysis of research. American Journal of Mental Retardation, 96, 577-597.
- Cunningham, J. (1993). Whole-to-part reading diagnosis.

 Reading and Writing Quarterly, 9, 31-49.
- Cunningham, P., & Allington, R. (1994). Classrooms that work: They can all read & write. New York: Harper Collins.
- Cunningham, P., Hall, D., & Defee, M. (1998). Non-ability grouped multi-level instruction: Eight years later.

 The Reading Teacher, 51, 652-664.

- Cunningham, P., Hall, D., & Sigmon, C. (1999). The

 teacher's guide to the four blocks: A multimethod,

 multilevel framework for grades 1-3. Greensboro, NC:

 Carson-Dellosa Publishing Company.
- Cupples, L., & Iacono, T. (2000, June). Phonological awareness and oral reading skill in children with Down syndrome. Journal of Speech, Language & Hearing Research, 43(3). Retrieved August 12, 2002, from EBSCOhost (Academic Search Elite) database.
- Daniels, J., & Diack, H. (1961). The nature of reading skill. In C. C. Walcutt (Ed.), Tomorrow's

 Illiterates: The state of reading instruction today (pp. 45-68). Boston: Little, Brown and Company.
- Downhower, S. (1989). Repeated reading: Research into practice. The Reading Teacher, 42, 502-506.
- Downhower, S. (1994). Repeated reading revisited: Research into practice. Reading and Writing Quarterly, 10, 343-358.
- Farrell, M., & Elkins, J. (December, 1994/January, 1995).

 Literacy for all? The case of Down syndrome. Journal of Reading, 38, 270-280.

- Flesch, R. (1981). Why Johnny still can't read? A new look at the scandal of our schools. New York: Harper & Row.
- Flesch, R. (1986). Why Johnny can't read and what you can do about it. New York: Harper & Row.
- Fuller, R. (1974, October). Breaking down the IQ walls:

 Severely retarded people can learn to read.

 Psychology Today, 97-102.
- Garnett, P. (1991). The combining of explicit phonics and the literature basis of whole language. Unpublished master's thesis, California State University, San Bernardino, CA.
- Gold, K. (2000a). Down's report criticises special schools. Times Educational Supplement, Issue 4384, pp. 3.
- Gold, K. (2000b, July 7). What Sarah started. Friday

 Magazine, TES Friday, pp. 12-15.
- Goodman, K. (1989). Whole language is whole: A response to Heymsfeld. Educational Leadership, 46(6), 69-70.

- Gurry, S., & Larkin, A. (1999). Literacy learning

 abilities of children with developmental

 disabilities: What do we know? Currents in Literacy.

 Cambridge, MA: Hood Children's Literacy Project.

 Retrieved December 24, 2002, from

 http://www.lesley.edu/academic_centers/hood/currents/

 v2n1/gurrylarkin.html
- Hayes, B. (1991). The effective teaching of reading. In

 B.L. Hayes (Ed.), Effective strategies for teaching

 reading (pp. 3-12). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Healthinmind. (2001, May 23). Healthinmind/mental health disorders/infant, child and adolescent disorders:

 Learning disorders/disabilities. Retrieved August 9,
 2002 from
 - http://healthinmind.com/english/learndis.htm
- Hedrick, W. (1999). Implementing a multi-method,

 Multilevel literacy program for students with mental
 retardation. Focus on Autism & Other Developmental
 Disabilities, 12, 142-150.
- Heymsfeld, C. (1989). Filling the hole in whole language.

 Educational Leadership, 46(6), 65-68.

- Hill, L., & Hale, M. (1991). Reading Recovery: Questions classroom teachers ask. The Reading Teacher, 44(7), 480-483.
- Holland, R. (2000, May 27). Competing to win: Motivation

 101 for state's public educators. The Tampa (FL)

 Tribune. Retrieved August 10, 2002, from

 http://www.lexingtoninstitute.org/education/

 motivation101.htm
- Home School Legal Defense Association (HSLDA).

 (1996-2002). Public school failures. HSLDA National

 Center Special Report. Retrieved August 10, 2002 from

 http://www.hslda.org/docs/nche/000000/00000040.asp
- Honig, B. (1996). Teaching our children to read: The role of skills in a comprehensive reading program.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Huey, E. (1908). The psychology and pedagogy of reading.

 Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Insider. (2000, October). Project Highlight:
 Within-syllable recombinative generalization in
 individuals with mental retardation. Retrieved August
 8, 2002, from http://www.parsons.lsi.ukans.edu/
 Newsletter/Insider

- Tvey, G. (1999). A multicase study in the middle school:
 Complexities among young adolescent readers. Reading
 Research Quarterly, 34, 172-192.
- Kame'enui, E., Adams, M., & Lyon, R. (2001). Tips for
 teaching kids to read. Reading Rockets Newsletter
 (Teaching strategies). Retrieved August 9, 2002, from
 http://www.readingrockets.org/article.php?ID=157
- Katims, D. (1996). The emergence of literacy in elementary students with mild retardation. Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 11, 147-157.
- Katims, D. (2000a, March). Literacy instruction for people with mental retardation: Historical highlights and contemporary analysis. Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, 35, 3-15.
- Katims, D. (2000b). The quest for literacy: Curriculum and instructional procedures for teaching reading and writing to students with mental retardation and developmental disabilities. Reston, VA: The Council for Exceptional Children.
- Kenny, T., & Clemmens, R. (1997). Mental Retardation. In
 R. A. Hoekelman (Ed.), Primary Pediatric Care
 (p. 410). St. Louis, MO: C.V. Mosby Company.

- Kirk, S. (1993). Characteristics of slow learners and needed adjustments in reading; How Johnny learns to read. In G. Harris, & W. Kirk (Eds.), The foundations of special education. Selected papers and speeches of Samuel A. Kirk (pp. 137-156). Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED356577)
- Kliewer, C. (1998). Citizenship in the literate community:

 An ethnography of children with Down syndrome and the written word. Exceptional Children, 64, 167-180.
- Knuth, S. (1992). The implementation of reading recovery
 in year round schools. Unpublished master's thesis,
 California State University, San Bernardino, CA.
- Learning for Life. (n.d.). The history of compensatory
 education in North Carolina. Learning for Life.
 Retrieved August 9, 2002 from
 http://cdl.unch.und.edu/lfl/histry.htm
- Lewandowski, G. (1977). Commentary Learning disabilities certification: A needed revision. The Reading

 Teacher, 132-133.
- Love, R. (1982). Johnny can read so can Jane. Menlo Park,

 CA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

- Lyon, R. (1998). The NICHD research program in reading development, reading disorders and reading instruction: A summary of research findings. Keys to successful learning: A national summit on research in learning disabilities. New York: National Center for Learning Disabilities, Inc. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 430366)
- Marva Collins Seminars, Inc. (1998-2001). Marva N. Collins

 Biography. Retrieved August 9, 2002, from

 http://www.marvacollins.com/biography.html
- Mastropieri, M. (2001, February). Can middle school students with serious reading difficulties help each other and learn anything? Learning Disabilities

 Research & Practice, 16(1). Retrieved August 12, 2002, from EBSCOhost (Academic Search Elite) database.
- McCray, A., Vaughn, S., & Neal, L. (2001). Not all students learn to read by third grade: Middle school students speak out about their reading disabilities.

 The Journal of Special Education, 35(1), 17-30.
- Merck Manual-Home Edition. (n.d.). Mental retardation

 (chap. 255, sec. 23). Retrieved August 8, 2002, from

 http://www.merck.com/pubs/mmanual home/sec23/255.htm

- Moriarty, D. (1997). A message to congress: Redefining

 special education. Columbus, OH: Reading Recovery

 Council of North America. (ERIC Document Reproduction

 Service No. ED453511)
- Morris, D., Ervin, C., & Conrad, K. (1996). A case study of middle school reading disability. The Reading Teacher, 49(5), 368-377.
- National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP).

 (1998). Reading report card for the nation.

 Washington, DC: Office of Educational Research and
 Improvement, U.S. Department of Education.
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- National Reading Panel. (2000). Teaching children to read:

 An evidence-based assessment of the scientific

 research literature on reading and its implications

 for reading instruction. Washington, DC: National

 Institute of Child Health and Human Development

 (NICHD). Retrieved January 27, 2003, from

 http://www.nichd.nih.gov/publications/nrp

- Pikulski, J. (1994). Preventing reading failure: A review of five effective programs. The Reading Teacher, 48, 30-39.
- Pinnell, G. (1989). Reading recovery: Helping at-risk children learn to read. The Elementary School Journal, 90(2), 161-183.
- Rasinski, T. (1989). Fluency for everyone: Incorporating fluency instruction in the classroom. The Reading Teacher, 42, 690-692.
- Reale, R. (1999, July). A community-based literacy program for adults with mental retardation in the Metro

 Boston Area. Learning for Life, 5(1), from http://cdl.unch.unc.edu/lfl/

 SU99%20News%20Letter%20Web.html
- Ryan, J. (1999, January 13). Years of research, work on
 literacy of adults with mental retardation sends
 Hudson woman to national conference. Retrieved August
 10, 2002 from http://www.dmr.state.ma.us/dmrnews.nsf/
 a7...a769cc49eb9a852567080050d328?OpenDocument
- Samuels, S. J. (1988). Decoding and automaticity: Helping poor readers become automatic at word recognition.

 The Reading Teacher, 41, 756-760.

- School Reform News. (1998, February). Marva Collins to expand program to Milwaukee. School Reform News.

 Retrieved August 9, 2002, from http://www.heartland.org/education/feb98/marva.htm
- Schug, M., Tarver, S., & Western, R. (2001). Direct

 Instruction and the teaching of early reading:

 Wisconsin's teacher-led insurgency. Wisconsin Policy

 Research Institute Report, 14(2), 1-34.
- Silberberg, N., Iverson, I., & Goins, J. (1973). Which remedial reading method works best? Journal of

 Learning Disabilities, 6(9), 18-27.
- Sitlington, P., Clark, G., & Kolstoe, O. (2000).

 Transition education and services for adolescents
 with disabilities. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Slaughter, H. (1988). Indirect and direct teaching in a whole language program. The Reading Teacher, 42, 30-34.
- Snider, V. (1992). Learning styles and learning to read: A critique. Remedial and Special Education, 13(1), 6-18.

- Spadorcia, S. (1997, January). Motivating the

 hard-to-Reach student: Methods for improving the

 literacy of adolescents with learning disabilities.

 Sixth Symposium on Literacy and Disabilities, Durham,

 NC. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED407797)
- Spiegel, D. (1992). Blending whole language and systematic direct instruction. The Reading Teacher, 46(1), 38-44.
- Staab, C.(1990). Teacher mediation in one whole literacy classroom. The Reading Teacher, 43(9), 548-552.
- Stahl, S. A., Osborn, J., & Lehr, F. (1990). Beginning to read: Thinking and learning about print—A summary.

 Champaign, IL: University of Illinois, Center for the Study of Reading.
- Stanovich, K. (1986). Matthew effects in reading: Some consequences of individual differences in the acquisition of literacy. Reading Research Quarterly, 21, 360-407.
- Sticht, T., & McDonald, B. (1992). Teaching adults to read. In S.J. Samuels, & A. Farstrup (Eds.), What research has to say about reading instruction (pp. 314-334). Newark, NJ: International Reading Association.

- Thomas B. Fordham Foundation. (n.d.). Part IV: Instruction

 The tyranny of dogma. Retrieved August 9, 2002,

 from http://www.edexcellence.net/fordham/

 foreports.htm
- Topping, K. (1989). Peer tutoring and paired reading:

 Combining two powerful techniques. The Reading

 Teacher, 42, 488-494.
- Trachtenburg, P. (1990). Using children's literature to enhance phonics instruction. The Reading Teacher, 43(9), 648-654.
- Trent, S., Artiles, A., & Englert, C. (1998). From deficit thinking to social constructivism: A review of theory, research, and practices in special education.

 In Pearson & A. Iran-Nijad (Eds.), Review of research in education (Vol. 2, pp. 277-307). Washington, DC:

 American Educational Research Association.
- Tunnell, M., & Jacobs, J. (1989). Using "real" books:

 Research findings on literature based reading

 instruction. The Reading Teacher, 42(7), 470-477.
- Turnbull, A., & Turnbull, H. (2001). Families,

 Professionals, and Exceptionality (3rd ed.).

 Columbus, OH: Merrill Prentice Hall.

- Vaughn, S., Moody, S., & Schumm, J. (1998). Broken promises: Reading instruction in the resource room. Exceptional Children, 64(2), 211-225.
- Wicklund, L. (1989). Shared poetry: A whole language experience adapted for remedial readers. The Reading Teacher, 42, 478-481.
- Winograd, P., & Greenlee, M. (1986). Students need a balanced reading program. Educational Leadership, 43(7), 16-19.
- Worthy, J., & Broaddus, K. (2002). Fluency beyond the primary grades: From group performance to silent, independent reading. The Reading Teacher, 55(4), 334-343.
- Zahn, M. (1999, February). Interview with Marva Collins:

 Head of the class: Inside the back-to-basics world of
 the Marva Collins school. Milwaukee Journal Sentinel.

 Retrieved May 5, 2002, from http://www.jsonline.com/
 news/edu/marva/marvatranscript.asp